Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

John Priddy

April 9, 2019

"It Does Not Reform; It Kills": Examining the Role of the News, Race, and Crime on U.S. Opinion Towards Solitary Confinement

by

John Priddy

Dr. Michael Leo Owens Adviser

Political Science

Dr. Michael Leo Owens

Adviser

Dr. Andra Gillespie

Committee Member

Dr. Daniel LaChance

Committee Member

2019

"It Does Not Reform; It Kills": Examining the Role of the News, Race, and Crime on U.S. Opinion Towards Solitary Confinement

By

John Priddy

Dr. Michael Leo Owens

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

2019

Abstract

"It Does Not Reform; It Kills": Examining the Role of the News, Race, and Crime on U.S. Opinion Towards Solitary Confinement

By John Priddy

Political scientists have long studied how public opinion is formed, especially public opinions about government policies and programs. Included in their interests is the study of how public opinions about the criminal justice system in the United States are formed. Although there has been a lot of attention payed by political scientists and other social scientists to public opinions about the criminal justice system, there is a lack of attention payed to public opinions about the use of solitary confinement by prisons and jails in the United States. This thesis empirically examines how a set of theoretically-derived factors, including news consumption, race, and criminal offenses, influence public opinion about solitary confinement. To do this, this study employs a set of news analyses, observing how solitary confinement is both mentioned and framed in the news media. Additionally, the study uses a public opinion survey of a random sample of adult volunteers to understand public opinion about the use of solitary confinement. It focuses on peoples support for or opposition to the use of solitary confinement. Additionally, the study seeks to understand how individual knowledge about racial bias and criminal offenses influence the degrees of support and opposition to the use of solitary confinement in the United States. The findings of the study identify the importance of the news media in understanding public opinion towards solitary confinement but find no significant results on changes in public opinion based on the racial or violence frames in the survey experiment.

"It Does Not Reform; It Kills": Examining the Role of the News, Race, and Crime on U.S. Opinion Towards Solitary Confinement

By

John Priddy

Dr. Michael Leo Owens

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

2019

Acknowledgements

I am deeply thankful for the support my professors, peers, and family have given me throughout this entire process. This thesis would not have been possible without the guidance and mentorship of my adviser, Dr. Michael Leo Owens. He has devoted so much of his time to answering my constant questions, helping me develop all parts of the thesis, and pushing me to develop a strong argument. Writing this thesis has been such a rewarding experience because of his encouragement. I must also thank Dr. Andra Gillespie, who has devoted much of her time to helping me with this thesis. She has been especially helpful with the central experiment of this study, from the design of the survey to the analysis of results. Her constant patience and guidance have allowed me to produce this thesis. I am also thankful to Dr. Daniel LaChance for his thoughtful contributions throughout this process. I thank every member of my committee for motivating me to work and think harder about every sentence and argument I made in this thesis. I would also like to thank the Emory Political Science Department for their generous research grant to fund this study's experiment.

Table of Contents

Introduction1
Chapter 1. The Correctional Practice and Politics of Solitary Confinement
Chapter 2. Punitive Public Opinion and Penal Policy Design24
Chapter 3. News Analyses41
Chapter 4. Survey Experiment49
Conclusion74
Appendix
Bibliography101
Tables and Figures:
Figure 1: U.S. State and Federal Prison Population4
Figure 2: Study Research Question
Figure 3: Public Opinion, Policy Design, and Punitiveness
Figure 4: Mentions of Solitary Confinement, Prison Reform, and Mass Incarceration44
Figure 5: Solitary Confinement in the Mainstream Commercial Media46
Figure 6: Solitary Confinement Framing in the Mainstream Commercial Media47
Table 1: Vignette Treatment Groups by Number of Respondents
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Demographic Variables
Table 3. Correlation Matrix of Variables
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Independent Variables
Table 5. Descriptive Statistics of Dependent Variables
Table 6. "Do you support the use of Solitary Confinement in the U.S. prison system?"65
Table 7. "Do you support the use of Solitary Confinement in the U.S. prison system?"67
Table 8. Racial Resentment and Treatment Variables
Table 9. Results of Ordinal Logit Models

Table 10: Solitary Confinement, Prison Reform, and Mass Incarceration in the News	.82
Figure 7: Histogram of Age	.83
Figure 8: Histogram of Racial Identity	.83
Figure 9: Histogram of Gender	.84
Figure 10: Histogram of Education	84
Figure 11: Histogram of Income	85
Figure 12: Histogram of Ideology	85
Figure 13: Histogram of Party Identification	86
Table 11: Regression Table of Opinion on Killing another Inmate	87
Table 12: Regression Table of Opinion on Mental Health Considerations	.88

Introduction

In 1842 Charles Dickens visited the Eastern State Penitentiary in Pennsylvania on his tour of the United States. He observed the unique punishment it used against inmates: solitary confinement. The prison was built to hold people in solitary confinement for lengthy periods, with the intent to reform. Upon his visit, Dickens remarked that:

"I believe that very few men are capable of estimating the immense amount of torture and agony which this dreadful punishment, prolonged for years, inflicts upon the sufferers; and in guessing at it myself, and in reasoning from what I have seen written upon their faces, and what to my certain knowledge they feel within, I am only the more convinced that there is a depth of terrible endurance which none but the sufferers themselves can fathom, and which no man has a right to inflict upon his fellow creature. I hold this slow and daily tampering with the mysteries of the brain to be immeasurably worse than any torture of the body; and because its ghastly signs and tokens are not so palpable to the eye and sense of touch as scars upon the flesh; because its wounds are not upon the surface, and it extorts few cries that human ears can hear; therefore the more I denounce it, as a secret punishment which slumbering humanity is not roused up to stay" (Dickens 1842, 81).

Nearly 170 years later, the American prison system still uses solitary confinement.

Across America, states employ solitary confinement in their prisons, jails, and detention centers

in increasingly large numbers (Kupers 2017). One man, William Blake, who has spent 36 years

in indefinite solitary confinement at New York's Great Meadow Correctional Facility for

murdering a guard, describes it in an essay called "A Sentence Worse than Death":

"Had I known in 1987 that I would spend the next quarter century in solitary confinement, I would certainly have killed myself. If I took a month to die and spent every minute in severe pain, it seems to me that on balance that fate would still be far easier to endure than the past twenty-five years have been. If I try to imagine what kind of death, even a slow one, would be worse than twenty-five years in the box - and I have tried to imagine it - I can come up with nothing. Set me afire, pummel and bludgeon me, cut me to bits, stab me, shoot me, do what you will in the worst of ways, but none of it could come close to making me feel things as cumulatively horrifying as what I've experienced through my years in solitary. Dying couldn't take but a short time if you or the state were to kill me; in [solitary confinement] I have died a thousand internal deaths." (Casella et al. 2016, 32-33)

Solitary confinement does more to punish prisoners than any other practice used in the American prison system. Humans designed solitary confinement to explicitly remove individuals from society and punish them for their actions. This type of punishment, and punishment in general, is a uniquely human idea. Only human society inflicts pain, suffering, and enacts justice against those who violate societal norms of the time. However, punishment is not just an anthropological or sociological issue, it is a political one. Throughout history, political theorists and philosophers have questioned and critiqued how punishment intersects with and influences our political institutions and vice versa (Beccaria 1764; Allen 2002). Since governments have been created and organized, punishment for criminal behavior has been a significant matter. In democratic societies such as Athens, where citizens possessed individual freedoms and liberties, theorists questioned what empowered the state to inflict punishment on its citizens? To what length should punishment be inflicted? And when does punishment become excessive, or punitive? Citizens and leaders continue to grapple with the purpose of punishment and who has the authority to punish on our collective behalf. Ultimately, punishment, whether inflicted in the public or private realm, was intended to stabilize society, inflict retribution, and legitimate civic authority (Allen 2002, 36).

Although punishment is a classical matter, it continues to have contemporary relevance. In *Discipline and Punish*, Michel Foucault traced how punishments in eighteen century France transitioned from public displays of punishment on the body, to punishments that were enacted privately, away from the public eye, with intent to punish the mind. Foucault describes how "punishment, then, will tend to become the most hidden part of the penal process. This has several consequences: it leaves the domain of more or less everyday perception and enters that of abstract consciousness...it is the certainty of being punished and not the horrifying spectacle of public punishment that must discourage crime" (Foucault 1995, 8-9). Modern punishments are hidden away, inflicted against those deemed as deviant, often in harsh and brutal manners, intended to cause penal harm (Clear 1994). However, empirical political science scholarship has largely ignored criminal punishments, especially carceral institutions that harm the mind, until recently (Gottschalk 2006; Miller 2010; Murakawa 2014; Enns 2016). Little scholarly attention had been paid to the administrative implementation of harsh policies and the impact that the state has on the application of criminal punishment.

The state plays an important and primary role in the administration of punishment. The state is responsible for building carceral institutions, enforcing criminal justice policies, and reforming criminal justice laws. The United States government is particularly known for the creation of harsh punishments for offenders. There are about 2 million people currently incarcerated in the United States prison system, representing an increase of about 500% since the 1970s (Barker 2009). Compared to other Western democracies, one out of every 100 adults are imprisoned, which is about seven times higher than the incarceration rate in France and Germany (Whitman 2003). This phenomenon, of the United States prison population rapidly increasing on an unprecedented scale, is called mass incarceration.

Mass incarceration refers to the rapid growth in incarceration rates in the United States, often in relation to the "War on Drugs" but also the general prison population (Alexander 2011; Enns 2016). Figure 1 depicts the rapid growth in the United States prison population in the modern era. Today, the United States "hands down longer sentences, spends more money on prisons, and executes more of its citizens than any other advanced industrial democracy" (Enns 2016, 3). The scale of imprisonment in the United States is unmatched. The system consumes between \$200 to \$250 billion a year and employs 2.4 million people, when law enforcement,

courts, and prisons are combined (Perkinson 2010). The dollar amount represents about 40% of the total United States national defense budget and about "five-and-a-half times what the federal government spent on unemployment compensation, and more than seventeen times what the government spends on foreign aid" (Enns 2016, 5).

Figure 1. U.S. State and Federal Prison Population, 1925-2016 (Reprinted from *The Sentencing Project*, 2018)



Mass incarceration is closely associated with race, especially African Americans, and socioeconomic status. Middle-and higher-income white suburbanites are relatively removed from feeling the effects of the prison system and mass incarceration (Perkinson 2010; Enns 2016). The federal Bureau of Justice Statistics estimates that only one in thirty-nine white men has been to prison, while one out of every six black men has been imprisoned. (Perkinson 2010; Alexander 2011). Eighty percent of criminal defendants are qualified as indigents by the courts, and roughly half of today's prisoners are illiterate (Perkinson 2010). No other country in the world incarcerates and imprisons as large a proportion of their minority populations as the United

States (Alexander 2011). The prison population in the United States is largely poor, racially diverse, and locked up for increasing amounts of time.

Mass incarceration is intimately connected with public opinion related to harsh, "tough on crime policies" (Alexander 2011; Enns 2016). These policies had a substantial effect on the rise in the prison population beginning in the 1960s. The public shift towards harsher and more excessive punishments is known as public punitiveness (Enns 2016). What exactly is punitiveness? Punitiveness is the degree to which punishment is inflicted beyond what is necessary to correct (Whitman 2003). The intention of prison systems could be to rehabilitate the incarcerated. Rehabilitation is a theory of punishment that argues that punishment and incarceration should have the goal of reorienting the offender (Whitman 2003). However, punitiveness is not about rehabilitation; it is about retribution. The American criminal justice, generally, is punitive and retributive nature, by design. American punishments inflict pain, suffering, and damage upon incarcerated persons to a degree which is not seen in other Westernized democracies (Whitman 2003; Howard 2017).

Political science research demonstrates that harsh policy designs originated from a punitive public, that was drawn towards excessive punishments from a perceived fear of crime beginning in the 1960s. (Alexander 2011; Reiter 2016; Enns 2016). The punitive public pushed for the imprisoned to be subjected to retributive policies such as the death penalty, rather than rehabilitative ones. The punitive public's influence on policies such as mass incarceration and the death penalty has been well noted in the literature (Alexander 2011; Enns 2016). However, the punitive attitudes that created and allowed mass incarceration to fester in the United States prison system are consequential to the adoption of solitary confinement in greater numbers across the nation.

Other than execution, solitary confinement is the most punitive punishment inflicted by the American criminal justice system. As the prison population increased, prisoners began to be moved to special housing units and solitary confinement facilities (Shalev 2009; Kupers 2017). The increased use of solitary confinement as a punitive practice followed changes in public opinion towards support of "tough on crime" policies (Reiter 2016). As a result, the use of solitary confinement in the modern era is a byproduct of mass incarceration in the United States (Shalev 2009). The larger prison populations resulted in overcrowded facilities, greater violence in the system, and fewer resources (Shalev 2009). Solitary confinement allowed prison wardens and guards to maintain a greater sense of control over the prison environment (Shalev 2009). Dangerous or controversial inmates were identified, removed from the general prison population, and placed in solitary confinement to maintain safety, order, and control in the overcrowded prison system (Shalev 2009).

The prison spaces for solitary confinement have many names—Special Housing Unit, Security Housing Unit, Control Unit, and Administrative Maximum Facility (Guenther 2013). Regardless of the name, the space and practice of solitary confinement have the same intentions—isolation and punishment. Thousands of American citizens incarcerated in the prisons of the United States reside in some form of solitary confinement, defined as "the physical isolation of individuals in which they are confined in their cells for around 23 hours each day" (Smith 2006, 448). A 2005 study by the Bureau of Justice Report found that 81,622 prisoners reside in some form of restricted housing (Guenther 2013). Often, they experience no physical or human contact for days, months, and even years. Daily, thousands of citizens are subjected to solitary housing. The increase in the use of solitary confinement through the creation of supermax prisons is associated with the public's changes in attitudes towards crime (Kupers 2017).

Because the number of people in prison, especially imprisoned in solitary confinement, is growing, the use of such a punitive incarceration practice warrants understanding by scholars, the American criminal justice system, and the American public. This thesis examines public opinion about solitary confinement. It contributes to the scholarship on the connection between public opinion and punitive policies. Specifically, this thesis empirically examines how a set theoretically-derived factors, including news consumption, race, and criminal offenses, influence public opinion about solitary confinement in the United States. This connects the punitive public, the news media, and the harsh punishments inflicted as a result.

This study evaluates the relationship between public opinion and solitary confinement. This study employed a survey experiment, collected on a sample of U.S. adults, and news analyses of the largest U.S. news sources, to elucidate the connection between media frames and solitary confinement. Additionally, this study addresses a subject that political science ignores, namely, the influence of race and offense on attitudes toward the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system.

Chapter 1 of this thesis undertakes an overview of the correctional practice and politics of solitary confinement. It begins with a historical overview of solitary confinement, which has existed as a practice for 200 years in the United States, despite critics noting its punitiveness. The chapter traces the use of solitary confinement across the United States to the creation of the supermax prison, a prison designed solely for the use of solitary confinement. Chapter 1 also interrogates the practice and efficacy of solitary confinement, questioning who is held in solitary confinement and whether it affects rehabilitative outcomes. The theory of the "worst of the

worst" being held in solitary confinement is the core focus of Chapter 1. The "worst of the worst" theory argues that the public believes that those in solitary confinement are there because they have committed the most offensive and heinous of crimes (Mears 2013). As a result, the public is more likely to support solitary confinement, especially against violent offenses. The "worst of the worst" theory is later tested in this thesis, drawn from the data and results of the survey experiment, where respondents were asked if they were more likely to support solitary confinement.

Chapter 2 addresses public opinion formation, punitiveness, and correctional policy design. It Extensive evidence from the literature strongly demonstrates that the news media plays a significant role in the development of opinions, whether it be television, newspapers, or radio. (Erbring et al 1980; Page et al 1987; Enns 2016). The commercial media, through agenda setting, influences what the public finds important (Cook et al. 1983). The media also has the ability to frame issues, which changes how the public perceives these issues. The commercial media, through agenda setting and framing, changed how the public perceived criminal justice issues (Enns 2016). This leads into the connection between the punitive public and the rise of mass incarceration in the United States (Enns 2016). The punitive public lead political elites who drafted and implemented the harsh policy design (Enns 2016). These punitive polices are implemented through "degenerative policy design", which are policymaking designs that target "deviant" populations (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). Incarcerated persons, who are negatively constructed and politically weak, are key examples of deviant populations. Theoretically, their position as "deviants" explains much of why solitary confinement and other punitive practices are inflicted against them with little political backlash from the public. Figure 2 depicts the basic argument this thesis makes about how news consumption and media framing, race and racial

resentment, and criminal offenses of the incarcerated influence public opinion about solitary

confinement.





Furthermore, Chapter 2 engages the general theories surrounding the relationship between public opinion and public policy, especially in the criminal justice literature. Few studies analyze public support for solitary confinement (Koczela and Parr 2017; Wagage et al. 2017). Moreover, there is little experimental data on general public opinions on solitary and what factors may influence that support. Support for the death penalty, felon disenfranchisement, and other punitive policies have been extensively tested and observed by scholars (Barkan and Cohn 1994; Barkhan and Cohn 2005; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). Solitary confinement remains relatively unexamined. One reason for this is the difficulty defining solitary confinement. Different prisons use different names for the practice and incarcerated persons can be moved into solitary without judicial oversight or approval, thus it is difficult to track the numbers of people in solitary confinement.

Additionally, Chapter 2 provides a theoretical overview of the influence of race on the criminal justice system. Race plays an incredibly large role in the development of policies in the

United States, especially when those policies are racialized (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Gilens 1999; Chiricos et al. 2004; Green et al. 2006; Bobo and Johnson 2004; Hurwitz and Peffley 2007, 2010; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). The criminal justice system operates no differently, and scholars have extensive evidence that throughout the entire system, blacks are treated differently than whites (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). Scholars have observed racial differences in public opinion among a variety of policies, both racial and non-racial (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Gilliam 1999; Green et al. 2006). However, none of these studies focus on solitary confinement. This is disconcerting, as solitary confinement disproportionately impacts incarcerated persons of color and lower socioeconomic status (Resnik et al. 2016). Any practice that disproportionately harms segments of the population necessitates further investigation and analysis.

Chapter 2 concludes with the hypotheses of this study, applying the theories from the literature review to the hypotheses. The hypotheses explain how based on the literature, I expect the news media to portray solitary confinement. For the news analyses, I hypothesize that the commercial media devotes more attention to mass incarceration and prison reform than solitary confinement. I further hypothesize that media coverage of solitary confinement will be more supportive or neutral than critical of it and that the media will emphasize the race and criminal offenses of the confined over other attributes. The hypotheses also explain how I expect respondents to react to the racial and violence frames applied in the survey experiment. I hypothesize that the racialized frames will increase support for solitary confinement more than race-neutral frames. I further hypothesize that the violent frames will increase support for solitary confinement more than violence-neutral frames.

Chapters 3 covers the data, methods, and results of an original content analyses of major newspapers in the United States over two decades about imprisonment, particularly solitary confinement, and an original survey experiment about support for solitary confinement. The chapter begins with the news analyses conducted in this study. The news analyses identify how solitary confinement is presented in the media, which leads into the survey experiment. Specifically, the content analysis identifies the factors that influence public opinion on solitary confinement. As the chapter makes clear, based on the results of the news analyses, solitary confinement is mentioned similarly to other criminal justice topics such as mass incarceration and prison reform. Solitary confinement is also not framed negatively in the commercial news media.

Chapter 4 reports the data, methods, and results of the survey experiment. The experiment investigated the factors that influence public support or opposition to, or ambivalence towards, the use of solitary confinement in correctional systems of the United States. The survey experiment explored the influence of racial and offense framing on the publics' support for the use of solitary confinement. The survey experiment reveals that the public generally opposes the use of solitary confinement. The results indicate that race has little to no effect on support for the use of solitary confinement. But, my empirical findings suggest that racial resentment towards Blacks increases support for solitary confinement. Furthermore, my findings suggest that more violent offenses lead to greater support for the use of solitary confinement, viewing the news also influenced respondents support for the use of solitary confinement, and the news also influenced respondents who observed the treatments, which were presented in a news article about a person in solitary confinement, opposed the use of solitary confinement. This indicate

that news stories of those in solitary confinement are important in understanding public opinion towards the practice. In sum, while the respondents indicated general disapproval for the use of solitary confinement, across all treatment groups, perceptions of blacks and crime remain relevant in understanding public opinion towards solitary confinement.

The thesis concludes with a discussion of the results of the analyses and identifies future directions for research on punitive attitudes and practices in the United States regarding corrections. Public opinion is massively important in understanding criminal justice policies. Few studies have observed the connection between the news media, public opinion, and solitary confinement. Solitary confinement is a particularly punitive practice that necessitates further research. This study attempts to fill the scholarly gaps and demonstrate the need for further research on the topic.

Chapter 2

The Correctional Practice and Politics of Solitary Confinement

At the center of this study is the practice of solitary confinement. As a result, it is fundamental to understand the penal practice itself. Solitary confinement in the United States is widespread and increasing in usage and it is important to understand what is driving this change. The history of solitary confinement, the rationales that continue to support its usage, and the consequences prisoners experience as a result of being in solitary confinement, help to explain public perception of the practice.

The purpose of solitary confinement centers on incapacitation, deterrence, and retribution as punishment. Incapacitation, deterrence, and retribution are theories that question why society punishes (Whitman 2003). Incapacitation refers to isolating or removing individuals from the public eye, effectively detaching them from society. Deterrence argues that harsh punishments, such as solitary confinement, deter individuals from committing crimes from fear of punishment. Finally, retribution refers to the classic idea of an "eye for an eye" or that the crime should fit the punishment. Solitary confinement as a punishment acts to remove, caution, and inflict pain upon those who have committed crimes. But it is part of a larger set of practices, whereby the American prison system degrades, humiliates, and dehumanizes its prisoners daily, with solitary confinement being one of its most powerful and harmful tools of social control. The system centers around one of the central facets of punishment, "that punishment only works if it succeeds in making the punished person feel inferior" (Whitman 2003, 20). In solitary, inmates lose their sense of time, while corrections officers and administrators starve them with insufficiently nutritious meals and deny them physical human contact (Kupers 2017). Solitary confinement is the prison of the prison system, as it removes the individuals from society, even

prison society, and prevents them from engaging with other members of that society. This instills the inferiority and inflicts substantial psychological harm (Whitman 2003).

Solitary confinement is built around punishment. Punishments are inflicted with the intent to reduce the offender and solitary confinement is one of the clearest examples. Solitary confinement is also explicitly punitive. One of the fundamental tenets of punitiveness is degradation. Degradation is the power to "reduce another person in status, to treat another person as inferior" (Whitman 2003, 8). The entire purpose of degradation is to label another as acting bad or evil and inflict punitive measures against them as a result. Solitary confinement is a primary method in which the carceral state degrades those in prison. Locking a person away for days, months, or years functions as an effort to remove the offender from the public eye, while also preventing the person from engaging in human contact. Unlike prisoners who are able to interact with one another, the individual in solitary confinement is deeply marked as inferior, to the point that contact with other humans is forbidden. As a method of punitiveness and degradation, solitary confinement ranks as one of the nation's harshest.

While the total prison population grew 28% between 1995 to 2000, the number of prisoners in solitary confinement increased by 40% (Guenther 2013). Additionally, solitary confinement is not reserved for prisoners who commit the most violent offenses. Of the estimated 81,622 prisoners in solitary confinement, many are in for non-violent reasons, despite public beliefs that solitary confinement is reserved for the most violent of crimes such as terrorism and mass murder (Guenther 2013). Inmates have ended up in solitary confinement for many offenses, such as fighting, wearing a hijab or headscarf, being affiliated with a gang, possessing contraband, or attempted suicide (Guenther 2013). The stories of those in solitary confinement reveal the effect the practice can have on the mental health. People who have

experienced solitary confinement report that the beds cut into your body, that they lose their sense of space and time, and slowly descend into madness (Guenther 2013).

Solitary confinement is intimately connected with the implementation of the "supermax" or super-maximum security prison. The Pelican Bay State Prison in California, the first modern supermax prison built in 1989, ushered in a multi-state era of solitary confinement. As of 1996, "over two-thirds of states had supermax facilities that collectively housed more than 20,000 inmates" (Mears 2006, ii). By 2004, 44 states had supermax prisons, and the use of supermax prisons and solitary confinement has diffused across the nation, with no signs of slowing. While supermax prisons hold dangerous prisoners, such as Al-Qaeda terrorists, solitary confinement as a general practice of imprisonment covers a range of inmates and crimes. Additionally, since 1989, prisons began to develop special housing units reserved specifically for solitary confinement. The development of supermax prisons and special housing units is intimately connected with changes in public opinion towards punitiveness, especially tough on crime attitudes (Pizarro et al 2006). Also referred to as penal populism, scholars argue that public support of tough on crime policies resulted in voters approving billions of dollars in public bonds to finance new prisons, specifically super maximum prisons (Gilmore 2007; Reiter 2016). The creation of the super-maximum prison ushered in a new era in the United States prison system, where solitary confinement was used in greater numbers and often, indiscriminately.

Historical Background of Solitary Confinement

Solitary confinement was originally employed in America's first prisons, as noted during the 19th century exploration of the United States prison system by Gustave de Beaumont and Alexis de Tocqueville. Then, solitary confinement was only applied to the criminals who were essentially on death row, awaiting their execution in darkness (de Beaumont and de Tocqueville 1964, 39). However, with the construction of the Auburn Prison in the State of New York in 1818, solitary confinement and complete isolation were applied to all the prisoners (de Beaumont and de Tocqueville 1964). The Auburn prison focused solely on solitary confinement, as the state legislature believed other prisons had failed as a result of overcrowding of the few available cells (de Beaumont and de Tocqueville 1964). De Beaumont and de Tocqueville argued that solitary confinement inflicted intense mental harm against those who suffered it. They described how "the unfortunates upon whom this experiment was made, fell into a state of depression, so manifest...their lives seemed in danger" (de Beaumont and de Tocqueville 1964, 41). Moreover, they concluded the experiment in the Auburn prison was non-rehabilitative, described as "destroy(ing) the criminal without intermission and without pity; it does not reform, it kills" (de Beaumont and de Tocqueville 1964, 61).

The psychological damage to the human psyche that occurred under solitary confinement was unprecedented, yet the practice continued. Horrific examples are evident in states such as Texas, where solitary confinement was used in 1912 as a method called dark ceiling. It was described as "a form of solitary in which inmates were temporarily locked in a small, pitch-black box and sustained on bread and water" (Perkinson 2010, 170). At one point, in response to a cotton strike, twelve field hands were placed in dark ceiling, and when the door was opened sixteen hours later, "eight men were dead, their naked corpses piled on top of the other…four survivors…their mouths wrapped around floor pipes, gasping for air" (Perkinson 2010, 174).

Solitary confinement continued in multiple places across the country, including the infamous Hole in Alcatraz. Another infamous example was the Adjustment Center at San Quentin State Prison. The Adjustment Center was known for the use of harsh solitary confinement against political dissidents, radicals, and members of the Black Panther Party

(Kupers 2017). Solitary confinement as a punishment is intimately connected with the punishment of black people in the United States. George Jackson, a prominent black revolutionary leader, was held in the Adjustment Center at San Quentin. While residing there, he was shot and killed by guards, inciting a prison uprising and leading to extremely brutal and harsh retaliation of solitary confinement against other black radicals in the prison (Kupers 2017).

The most prominent use of solitary confinement, that indicated the practice was being institutionalized in the prison system, was in 1983 during incidents in the United States Penitentiary in Marion, Illinois. Two guards were killed in separate attacks in the prison, and the warden placed the prison in permanent lockdown, where inmates were held in 23 hour a day confinement without communal time (Smith 2006). Following the incident in Marion, other correctional facilities across states began to construct prisons built solely for solitary confinement, called the supermaximum prison [supermax]. Supermax prisons were designed not only for control and maximum security, but also to inflict maximum damage against the human body.

The first supermax was Pelican Bay State Prison in California, built in 1989 (Reiter 2016). Pelican Bay was the first instance of a prison built solely for the purpose of solitary confinement. Its rooms were small, desolate, and intended for sensory deprivation, with constant overhead lights and often no accessible windows (Reiter 2016). The supermax method was copied across the United States. By 1996, according to the National Institutes of Corrections Survey, 34 states had supermax prisons. Six years later, ten more had supermax prisons (Mears 2006). Supermax prisons and solitary confinement are now staples of the American criminal justice system. Supermax prisons hold those offenders considered the most violent and dangerous. The supermax allows the federal prison system to have total control over these

individuals and keep them separate from the general prison population (Shalev 2009). The rest of the correctional facilities in the United States adopt solitary confinement with the explicit goal of controlling risk and violence in the prison (Shalev 2009). As Mears argues, "that growth is striking and suggests that supermax prisons are likely to remain a common feature of criminal justice in the United States for the indefinite future" (Mears 2006, 45). Correctional facilities are now dependent on solitary confinement as the method of control, moving inmates around as sanction for their bad actions or even, in some cases, to protect them from harm by other inmates (Shalev 2009).

Rationales for Solitary Confinement

Solitary confinement is used as a punishment for prisoners who are dissident within the prison, operating as the prison of the prison system. Solitary confinement cannot be understood without insight into who resides in restricted housing. Foremost, the common idea of solitary confinement is that it is reserved for the "worst of the worst" offenders (Mears 2013). Within solitary confinement, there are certainly these types of offenders, such as Zacarias Moussaoui, who is held in ADX Florence for his planning of the 9/11 attacks. However, many prisoners within solitary confinement are held for seemingly innocuous reasons. In the prison, the warden and administrators have jurisdiction over who is held in solitary confinement and can place inmates in solitary without a warrant or judicial order, without violating a prisoner's constitutional rights (Kupers 2017). Thus, prisoners can be placed in solitary confinement for non-violent offenses, such as being identified as gang members (Shames et al. 2015). Identification as gang-affiliated presents a danger to the prison environment that guards argue can lead to violent attacks or riots between prisoners (Kupers 2017). That practice is called

administrative segregation, as it is not based on individual activity, rather, it is based on identification as a risk within the prison environment (Shames et al. 2015).

Furthermore, inmates can be placed in solitary for disruptive behavior, such as talking back or failure to obey an order (Shames et al. 2015). For example, in Pennsylvania, the most common violation associated with a sentence to segregated housing was failure to obey an order, with "85 percent of those written up for this type of violation sent there [solitary confinement]" (Shames et al. 2015, 13). The lengths of confinements can also vary drastically (Kupers 2017). For example, William Blake, the prisoner in New York's Great Meadow Correctional Facility mentioned earlier, "is considered a permanent risk to prison safety and is in isolation indefinitely, despite periodic pro forma reviews of his status" (Casella et al. 2016, 25). Prisoners in supermax facilities are often serving life-sentences, facing no possibility of parole or release from solitary confinement (Shalev 2009).

Those who support solitary confinement argue that it is an effective punishment that is necessary to maintain control within the prison environment (Shalev 2009). Generally, correction officials state that solitary confinement keeps both the prison environment and the prisoners safer. In a study of prison effectiveness, prison wardens, correctional staff, and prison commissioners were asked what they perceived as the goals of solitary confinement. In total, 60 respondents were questioned through the study (Mears 2006). The responses revealed that prison wardens expected solitary confinement to "increase safety, order, and control throughout prison systems and incapacitate violent or disruptive inmates" (Mears 2006, 40). However, prison wardens were not entirely in agreement about the effectiveness of solitary. The study found that "there is less agreement about whether they improve inmate behavior throughout prison systems; decrease riots, the influence of gangs, or escapes; successfully punish, reduce the recidivism of,

or rehabilitate violent or disruptive inmates; or deter crime in society" (Mears 2006, 40). Prison officials, as the chief implementers of solitary confinement, are unsure how it aids in their prison administration, yet they continue to use the practice.

Consequences of Solitary Confinement

Guards in supermax prisons can use obtuse and impressible rules to move prisoners into solitary confinement. In solitary, prisoners are permitted few personal items, such as books, papers and pencils, or family photos. These items are not guaranteed, and literature is often restricted based on what the prison considers appropriate (Casella et al. 2016). Furthermore, when prisoners disobey an order or commit a violation, their personal possessions can be removed and never returned. Guards can also restrict prisoner's access to more than their personal items. For example, guards can take away a person's phone calls, commissary, and time outside (Kupers 2017).

Denying these basic rights operates to punish people with the few reliefs from solitary confinement they have, resulting in worse mental health outcomes. Guards also employ harsher punishments against those in solitary. For example, staff may restrain an incarcerated person through the shackling of all limbs, the abdomen, the head, and the neck, and leave them in their cells for hours in this condition (Kupers 2017). Staff can also use immobilizing tear gas when prisoners refuse to eat their food and may forcibly extract them from their cells and lock them in lightless, windowless, bed-less rooms (Kupers 2017).

The impact of solitary confinement on the psyche of the prisoner is important to understanding its punitive impact. A prisoner can go for "years, even decades, without experiencing any form of touch beyond the chaining and unchaining of wrists" (Guenther 2013, 164). Prisoners in solitary confinement experience drastic changes in physical and mental health. Craig Haney, a professor of psychology at the University of California, Santa Cruz, testified before Congress on the conditions of solitary confinement. In his testimony, he argued that prisoners in solitary confinement are often catatonic, covered in their own feces, or in complete despair (Haney 2003). Haney argued that the 23 hours a day of isolation led prisoners to shriek wildly and lose complete control of their minds, often descending into complete madness (Haney 2003). Among inmates in Pelican Bay, 83 to 91 percent reported "anxiety, headaches, lethargy, irrational anger, confused thought processes, and social withdrawal" (Smith 2006, 493). Research also notes higher levels of psychopathy, self-mutilation, and suicide among inmates in solitary confinement (Haney 2003).

The Department of Justice, Congress, and prison wardens are all aware of the dire conditions in which prisoners are held in solitary confinement, yet the practice continues. Solitary confinement continues to be used as a method of punishment, despite the negative effect on mental health, because of perceptions of the people held within solitary as the "worst of the worst." Recidivism, meaning the rate at which prisoners return to prison after their release, is an important measure of the effectiveness of punishment. The literature on this topic suggests that solitary confinement does not reduce recidivism, it increases the recidivism rate. A state-wide study in Massachusetts showed that people who were released from solitary confinement had a recidivism rate of 64%, while those released from a normal prison setting had a recidivism rate of 41% (Gibbons and Katzenbach 2006, 55). The study analyzed the rates at which those who were in solitary confinement returned to the prison system once released against the rates of those who never were placed in solitary confinement. Prisoners in solitary confinement were more likely to return to prison in general, than prisoners who had never been in solitary confinement (Gibbons and Katzenbach 2006). Additionally, states that reduced their number of prisoners in solitary confinement saw a 75% reduction in prison violence (Gibbons and Katzenbach 2006, 55). However, 95% of prison wardens believe that solitary confinement successfully increases safety and order, and reduces violence in prisons (Mears 2006, 40). Mears analysis reveals discrepancies between what the wardens believe solitary confinement achieves, and the actual results.

In *Solitary Confinement, Public Safety, and Recidivism*, Gordon addresses the relationship between solitary confinement and recidivism. Gordon argues that the high recidivism rate of prisoners in solitary confinement is explained by the rage hypothesis, which posits that "prisoners become so angry and frustrated by their incarceration in solitary confinement that they gain an active desire, or a heightened readiness, to exact revenge on society" (Gordon 2014, 519). Unfortunately, Gordon does not provide statistics or research to defend the rage hypothesis, she merely presents it as a possibility. However, solitary confinement presents greater risks for recidivism as prisoners are prevented from accessing educational or work programs (Gordon 2014). This based on theory that access to rehabilitative programs, such as education programs while in prison, reduces the rate of recidivism (Gordon 2014). If the intended purpose of solitary confinement is to rehabilitate, then it is not an effective form of punishment.

Little is known about the costs of solitary confinement in the United States prison system. However, one study estimates that the average price paid by taxpayers to fund solitary confinement in Pelican Bay was \$12,317 (Rodriguez 2011). Taxpayers funded the development of Pelican Bay Prison, as they voted to appropriate money to its construction before it was built (Reiter 2016). However, a cost-benefit analysis of supermax prisons is largely missing in the literature, due to its complexity and difficult. Mears argues that supermaxes represent a close to \$1 billion investment over 30 to 40 years (Mears 2006). Solitary confinement, as a method of punishment, is extremely expensive.

Prisons will continue to use solitary confinement because it is one of the main ways that correctional facilities are able to handle their ever-growing populations (Shalev 2009). The lack of accountability on the part of prison administrators allows prisoners to be placed in solitary confinement without notice, warrant, or reason. Incarcerated persons continue to be placed in solitary confinement because the "worst of the worst" theory perpetuates. Mears et al. argue that people who most associate solitary confinement with the worst of the worst are concerned with symbolic threat, essentially fear of threat, the idea that those in solitary are a threat to society at large (Mears et al. 2013). This engages the general theories of punishment and the idea of isolation, that dangerous people must be separated and removed from society. Solitary confinement is understood as the prison of the prison system, where the most "heinous" and "dangerous" of offenders are sent. Isolation emphasizes the need to remove these individuals from society. Solitary confinement is the harshest and most significant form of isolation possible within the American prison system.

Understanding the practice of solitary confinement is central to explaining public perception of the practice. Public opinion on solitary confinement indicates that the majority, 56%, of Americans believe it is an appropriate form of punishment rather than a method torture (Jagel 2013). This indicates that the public is thinking of solitary confinement differently than experts on the topic (Reiter 2016; Kupers 2017). Public opinion is an influential factor in American politics, especially in the criminal justice field. The next chapter considers how punitive public attitudes create punitive policy designs such as solitary confinement.

Chapter 2

Punitive Public Opinion and Penal Policy Design

Public opinion is integral to the development of mass incarceration policies in the American criminal justice system. The public pushed for tough on crime policies and policymakers obliged, resulting in America having the highest incarceration rate across Western democracies (Enns 2016). Public opinion supporting these punitive policies developed from the news media, which stoked a fear of crime among the public (Enns 2016). Public opinion has a profound impact on the development of punitive policies in the American criminal justice system (Enns 2016). This study examines the role of public opinion in the implementation of a specific punishment, solitary confinement. As a result, it is important to understand how people form their opinions. But, how does public opinion, especially punitive public opinion, develop?

Public Opinion Formation

News media play a significant role in the development of opinions, whether it be television, newspapers, or radio. (Erbring et al 1980; Page et al 1987; Enns 2016). The commercial news media influences public opinion through a variety of avenues. One of the commercial media's main avenues is called agenda setting, which is "the process by which problems become salient political issues meriting the attention of the polity" (Cook et al. 1983, 17). The ability to set the agenda allows the commercial media to highlight important issues and bring attention to both the public and policymakers. Cook et al. find that the public, when presented with agenda setting information through the commercial media, "changed their perceptions on issues of importance and altered their policy priorities" (Cook et al. 1983, 33). Cook et al. designed an experimental trial, where respondents were randomly assigned to different television programs, created by the researchers. The target program featured a fake

story about abuse in the home health industry (Cook et al. 1983). The respondents who observed the target program were more likely to place significance on that issue in a post-viewing survey (Cook et al. 1983). They concluded that watching the target program significantly altered the views of the general population, empirically confirming the agenda setting theory (Cook et al. 1983). Iyengar et al. find that television news has a significant impact on what viewers believe is important (Iyengar et al. 1982). Through an experimental research design, in which viewers are treated with doctored news broadcast, they found that television news has a substantial impact on the issues that viewers find important (Iyengar et al. 1982).

Framing is another avenue through which the media can influence public opinion. A frame is simply a "cognitive structure that helps individuals to make sense of their surroundings" (Haynes et al. 2016, 17). Framing theory suggests that different images or ideas, when presented to people, will elicit different responses. This is based on cognitive science and sociology. The theory follows that people have inherent biases or preferences, and exposure to images that trigger those biases or preferences elicits responses (Haynes et al. 2016). The frames are shown through survey experiments, with different viewers receiving different images and then comparing the results. One of the main ways scholars observe the effect that race has on the criminal justice system is through survey-based framing experiments. Experiments are useful in observing racial bias in an experiment, as the respondents are randomly assigned the treatment or control. In experiments where race is the treatment, everything else between the treatment and control remain the same except for the race of the individual or subject in question. As a result, surveyors are able to see how two groups of similar people respond to race. Hurwitz and Peffley conducted such an experiment, where they observed changes in responses based on racial frames. In their experiment, randomized respondents received different vignettes, or treatments,

about people of different races committing crimes. Hurwitz and Peffley found a strong relationship between white's perceptions of African Americans and judgements of crime and punishment, but only for black criminals who commit violent crimes (Hurwitz and Peffley 1997). This suggests that more violent crimes also trigger greater judgments of punishment.

Enns in *Incarceration Nation* examines the importance of the commercial media in the criminal justice system and the development of a law and order society. He argues that the rise of mass incarceration in the United States was largely a political response to the increasingly punitive public throughout the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s. In order to test this theory, Enns tracks public opinion on various survey questions that asked about punitive attitudes. He then creates a measure tracking the response to those survey questions cumulatively overtime, combining the responses into one measure of punitiveness, establishing that punitiveness increased as the prison population did the same (Enns 2016). Enns finds that as newspaper coverage of crime increased in the 1960s, the public's punitiveness also rose (Enns 2016). He finds that the relationship between news coverage and punitiveness is consistent over time (Enns 2016). He argues that the primary factor driving the rise in public punitiveness was news coverage of criminal activity, because as news coverage of crime increased, punitiveness matched the rise (Enns 2016). News coverage of crime increased because the crime rate increased during this time period; yet, the media focused heavily on violent crimes and crimes committed by African Americans (Enns 2016).

Enns' argument provides insight into influence of the commercial media on public opinion. The commercial media is a powerful American institution that can utilize its capabilities to influence public opinion. The commercial media through their agenda setting capabilities created a sense of lawlessness and crime that initiated significant fear in the American public. The commercial and news media created a public that clamored for punitive policies. A significant factor in the need for punitive policies was fear of the crimes written about in the commercial media (Langworthy and Whitehead 1986). Fear of crime is a significant factor in understanding the relationship between punitiveness and the American public. Research has demonstrated that fear is a statistically significant predictor of punitiveness (Langworthy and Whitehead 1986). Once people's opinions are formed, how may those opinions influence policy?

Public opinion affects policymaking because elected officials, generally, care about the opinions of their constituents and implement policies to attend to those opinions (Downs 1957, Fenno 1978). Policymaking surrounding crime and punishment operates in a similar manner. A significant amount of research demonstrates that punitive public opinion influenced the development of punishments in the criminal justice system in the late twentieth century (Jacobs and Carmichael 2001, Enns 2016). For example, research indicates that the punitive public played a significant role in the development of California's three strikes laws because the public at the time preferred more punitive measures against criminal offenders (Cullen et al. 2000). Cullen et al. demonstrate this through an analysis of support for three strikes laws among the public when the three strikes laws were passed in California. The authors found that in a 1994 Time/CNN Poll, "81% of adults favored mandatory life imprisonment for anyone convicted of a third serious crime" (Cullen et al. 2000, 38). In the same year, the California electorate passed a three-strikes law with 72% voting in favor and only 28% voting against (Cullen et all 2000).

Researchers argue over whether political elites push for more punitive policies or if the public leads political elites (Page et al 1987; Enns 2016). More recent scholarship indicates that while the opinions of elites and the public can reinforce one another, the evidence indicates that the elites usually respond to public opinion (Enns 2016). Enns specifically focuses on public

opinion in relation to attitudes on crime and punishment during the 1960s, 1970s, and early 1980s, which is especially important to this study. Enns demonstrates that the public began illustrating more punitive attitudes towards crime before leaders, such as Richard Nixon, began espousing the importance of law and order and tough on crime policies (Enns 2016). When political leaders did address "tough on crime" and "law and order" issues, they often connected them to race (Alexander 2011; Enns 2016). Scholars have also argued that public opinion can shape policy implementation in bureaucratic and legislative structures (Burstein 2003; Brace and Boyea 2008; Lax and Phillips 2009). Burstein's study is especially useful, as he conducts an analysis of 30 studies that purported to observe a relationship between public opinion and public policy, on policies such as welfare, taxes, and capital punishment. Burstein observes the effect of the predictor, public opinion, on the dependent variable, creation of public policy (Burstein 2003). He measures the relationship between public opinion and public policy through observing a statistically significant effect in the original paper between the predictor and the dependent variable (Burstein 2003). Burstein finds that 75% of the relationships between public opinion and public policy are statistically significant and that public opinion had a substantive effect on public policy (Burstein 2003).

Public Opinion and Policy Design

Public punitiveness effects policy design and implementation of criminal justice punishments and incarceration through several mechanisms. First, punitiveness influences the budgetary and appropriations process for law enforcement and corrections (Enns 2016). Through appropriations, legislators have the authority to control the number of prosecutions, investigations, and incarcerations. Second, legislators have the ability to decide the length of sentences and the punishment inflicted based on the crime. As a result, legislators possess the
authority and power to capitalize on the public's punishment-oriented opinions (Enns 2016). Third, state and federal actors beyond legislators are also influenced by public opinion. For example, prosecutors are elected in 46 states across the nation (Gordon and Huber 2009). The role of the prosecutor is intimately connected to criminal justice policies and enforcement, as the prosecutor has authority to decide which crimes to prosecute (Gordon and Huber 2009). In the 38 states that elect their Supreme Court Justices, scholars found that attitudes towards the death penalty influenced their votes on the matter (Brace and Boyea 2008; Enns 2016). The authors measured public opinion towards the death penalty in states that elected their judges (Brace and Boyea 2008). In those states, when public opinion was either in support of the death penalty, or opposed towards the death penalty, State Supreme Court Justices in their election year would affirm or overturn lower-state court rulings on the death penalty that were consistent with public opinion (Brace and Boyea 2008). They found that "in states that retain their judges electively, a direct effect exists which encourages judges to affirm lower court punishments where the public is more supportive of capital punishment" (Brace and Boyea 2008, 370). Across the government, elites remain concerned about their public approval, which influences the policies they chose to enact. As a result, public opinion has several mechanisms through which it can influence the actions of political elites and government actors (Enns 2016).

Political actors implement punitive policies through degenerative policy designs. Degenerative policy designs are policymaking structures that impart negative political actions on certain populations. Schneider and Ingraham (1997) establish the theory of degenerative policy design in *Policy Design for Democracy*. In a societal context, there are populations that are advantaged, such as the wealthy and political connected, and those that are disadvantaged, such as the poor and uneducated. Schneider and Ingraham describe these social constructs as "stereotypes about certain groups of people that have been created by politics, culture, socialization, history, media, literature, religion, and the like" (Schneider and Ingraham 1997, 335). The social constructions are deeply ingrained in societal perceptions and have been established in the public consciousness, whether consciously or unconsciously.

These constructions can be broken down further. As Schneider and Ingraham (1997) theorize, and what others empirically verify (Kreitzer and Smith 2018), groups vary in two ways, namely political power and deservedness. Accordingly, we can think of four categories of groups. The advantaged are politically strong and deserving, people in business, science, and the military (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The politically weak but deserving are the dependents, who are mothers, children, and depending on the circumstance, the poor (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The underserving, but politically powerful, are the contenders. The contenders are those who have negative portrayals in society, such as Wall Street Bankers, but have outsized influence as a result of their wealth (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The advantaged, contenders, and dependents all have a combination of deserving social status or political power, giving them influence in some areas of society. One group has a negative social construction and lacks political power. Deviants are those who "have virtually no political power and are negatively constructed as underserving, violent, and mean" (Schneider and Ingraham 1997, 102). Incarcerated persons are key examples of deviants, as they lack any type of political power and are considered outcast from society.

Deviants can be contrasted against the advantaged. The advantaged have a close connection to policy design, and they create, implement, and design policies that positively benefit their own interests (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The advantaged have an outsized influence in policy design over the disadvantaged, especially deviants. Through degenerative policy design, the advantaged create policies that will better their political opportunities and lead to better public appearance, more wealth, or outsized political power, at the expense of deviant populations (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). All institutions are subject to degenerative policy designs that implement social constructions of in groups and out groups. The advantaged political leaders politicize issues and create targets out of the deviant populations while ascribing benefits to those deemed more deserving or good. Deviant groups act as scapegoats for political problems. As a result, politicians encounter little public backlash for inflicting punishments upon them. On the contrary, public opinion supports the punishing and infliction of punitive policies among deviant groups because they believe deviants deserve to be punished for their actions (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The punishment of deviant populations connects with the "worst of the worst" theory of solitary confinement. The "worst of the worst" are the most deviant, most deserving of punishment, which may explain the use of solitary confinement as a punishment against them.

The political benefits of punitive policies implemented against deviant groups can be observed across all levels of government. For example, public opinion shows that ordinary citizens believe that there has been a significant increase in the most violent of crimes such as homicide, yet these violent crimes have been decreasing since 1973 (Bortner et al. 1993). Despite this, federal politics has appropriated millions of dollars to be spent on punishments, rising from \$750 million a year in 1993 to \$20 billion by the end of the 1990s (Schneider and Ingraham 1997). The development of supermaximum prisons and the increased use of solitary confinement exemplifies the theory of degenerative policy design. Although solitary confinement worsens recidivism, makes prisons more violent, and inflicts harm on the mental and physical health of the individual, the policy increases in use. Solitary confinement is inflicted against a powerless, deviant group, and the negative social constructions, such as "the worst of the worst" make it "likely that these groups will receive *burdens* even when it is illogical from the perspective of policy ineffectiveness" (Schneider and Ingraham 1997).

Schneider and Ingraham's theory of degenerative policy making was empirically tested in a recent study. Kreitzer and Smith empirically establish that Schneider and Ingraham's theory holds up when surveying the general population. In their study, they surveyed respondents over the Amazon Mechanical Turk platform to evaluate the deservedness and perceived power of certain groups (Kreitzer and Smith 2018). The respondents ranked them in the theory established by Schneider and Ingraham, with four quadrants moving from weak to powerful and deserving to undeserving. The results empirically establish that public opinion places prisoners in the deviant category (Kreitzer and Smith 2018). The placement of certain categories of people, such as white women differs from Schneider and Ingraham, but both studies - the theoretical and empirical place prisoners in the deviant category.

The empirical testing of social construction theory establishes that public perceptions of prisoners are mostly negative, explaining why punishments such as solitary confinement can be inflicted without negative consequences for policymakers. Kreitzer and Smith (2018) support the degenerative policy making theory, as the public perception of prisoners as deviant allows for punitive policy design in the criminal justice system.

Race, Attitudes, and the Criminal Justice System

Race has historically played an incredibly large role in the criminal justice system. Overall, the American criminal justice system is noted for the harshness with which it applies punishments, described as "comparatively harsh, comparatively degrading, [and] comparatively slow to show mercy" (Whitman 2003, 19). However, the harsh, degrading, and merciless aspects of the American criminal justice system are deeply and intimately connected with race. The enslavement of African Americans in America substantively contributed to the many ways in which the United States inflicts punishment. Criminal treatment is intimately connected with the punishment slaves experienced (Whitman 2003). Slaves were constantly degraded and made to feel as different, characteristics present in the American prison system today (Whitman 2003). The creation of a status inferior, the African American slave, is directly connected with the status inflicted upon prisoners.

Texas Tough analyzes the relationship between slavery and the prison system in Texas. Perkinson argues that "just as slavery once stood as a glaring exception to the American promise, so does imprisonment more than two centuries after the birth of the republic" (Perkinson 2010, 1). It is impossible to decouple race and slavery from the current criminal justice system, as both operated to "preserve privilege, bolster political fortunes, and...to discipline those on the social margins, especially African Americans" (Perkinson 2010, 8). The beginnings of the carceral system reflect the institution of slavery. America's first penal codes distinguished how whites and blacks would be punished. Whites were relegated to the penitentiary, while blacks were subjected to brutal whippings, beatings, or often execution (Perkinson 2010). Today, "young African Americans...are more likely to spend time in prison-and less likely to get out-than their parents or grandparents were before the civil rights movement" (Perkinson 2010, 365). The harsh punishments-especially solitary confinement-inflicted upon prisoners today disproportionately affect African Americans, due to their origins in slavery.

This study engages this phenomenon and observes its occurrence in the practice of solitary confinement. Solitary confinement is ostensibly race neutral, yet, it is racially disparate in its application against prisoners. There are more black men in solitary than in the general

prison population in 31 states. (Flagg et al. 2016). Demographically, white men are underrepresented in solitary confinement in comparison to the prison system (Flagg et al. 2016). In 43 states, African American men make up 40.1% of inmates in the total custodial population, while 45% in restricted housing or solitary confinement (Flagg et al. 2016, 1). White men consist of 36.5% percent of the total custodial population and are 31% of the population in restricted housing. A study performed by the American Friends Service Committee in Arizona found that although African Americans consisted of only 4 percent of the state population, they were grossly overrepresented in both the prison population and in solitary confinement (Kupers 2017). The study noted that "there is an unmistakable pattern in Arizona where prisoners of color are nearly always placed in supermax facilities and other conditions of isolation at significantly higher rates than white prisoners…given that there is no evidence that race can be even remotely tied to prison violence or rule violation, this suggest an inherent bias on the part of the Arizona Department of Corrections" (Kupers 2017, 72-73).¹

The interconnected history between race and criminal justice leads scholars to study observable effects on the relationship between race and the criminal justice system. Whites generally support policies that harm blacks disproportionately. The two theories that argue this phenomenon are racial threat and the idea that negative racial attitudes affect that policy positions of whites. The racial threat theory argues that intergroup competition for resources creates policies and policy preferences that disproportionately harm blacks (Blumer 1958; Giles and Hertz 1994; Bobo 1999; Parker et al. 2005; Campbell et al. 2006). Specifically, as the numbers of a minority group grow in size, members of the majority perceive a threat and will

¹ Solitary confinement in the federal prison system operates in a similar matter. The federal prison system does not report the racial makeup of the supermax prisons across the country. However, research shows that across the United States, black people and people of color are disproportionately represented in the population in solitary confinement (Kupers 2017, 72-73).

take steps to reduce competition (Parker et al. 2005). The racial threat theory centers on economic arguments and interpretations and emphasizes that whites take actions against blacks to preserve their economic positions. The theory also underscores the threat to the status of whites, that blacks will unfairly take away the high status they have achieved in American society as a result of centuries of discrimination and systemic racism.

The theory that negative attitudes towards blacks affect the policy positions of whites is seen not only in the criminal justice system, but in welfare policy, education, and other supposedly non-racial areas (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Gilens 1999; Chiricos et al. 2004; Green et al. 2006; Bobo and Johnson 2004; Hurwitz and Peffley, 2007, 2010; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). This theory is different from the racial threat theory, as the negative attitudes theory highlights that whites are prejudiced against blacks simply because they are black. The negative attitudes theory demonstrates that whites simply hold prejudices against blacks and these prejudices have significant policy implications. For whites that express racial resentment towards blacks, racial threat theory expects them to oppose racially coded policies because they do not want to support blacks. Gilens, in Why Americans Hate Welfare, demonstrated that racial stereotypes towards less "deserving" blacks promoted much of the hatred towards welfare policy (Gilens 1999). The death penalty represents a punitive policy, similar to solitary confinement, that whites generally support as they perceive it as disproportionately harming blacks (Barkhan and Cohn 1994). Prejudice is measured through questions from the General Social Survey, which asked respondents to rate blacks on a scale of intelligence, express their opinions on living in a neighborhood with black people, and how they would react if a close family member married a black person (Barkhan and Cohn 1994). Respondents who indicated more racial prejudice among these questions supported the death penalty at significantly higher rates (Barkhan and Cohn

1994). Regardless of the policy, race has a clear effect on support or opposition to various policies among the American public.

Race has a significant impact on the criminal justice system, yet, few studies employ survey experiments to demonstrate how race can alter opinions on individual policies. Hetey and Eberhardt employed a survey experiment to see how race affected support for punitive policies (Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). They recruited participants, in-person, to respond to videos of prisons with altered information about the percentage of black to white inmates (Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). Respondents were then asked to sign a petition that would amend California's three strikes laws (Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). Respondents who observed a prison with a higher percentage of black inmates were significantly less likely to sign the petition changing threestrikes laws (Hetey and Eberhardt 2014). Hetey and Eberhardt's study elucidates the importance of framing in understanding punitive responses to criminal justice. However, this study employs a similar tactic with the racial and offense frame, but with a more punitive policy.

A few studies have attempted to gauge public opinion on solitary confinement in various states and when used against juveniles. One study analyzed public opinion on various criminal justice topics in Massachusetts (Koczela and Parr 2017). The primary focus of the study was not solitary confinement, although it did ask Massachusetts voters their opinions on solitary confinement. The question asked respondents their opinions on solitary confinement based on what supporters of the practice said, that it is necessary to keep control in the prison environment, and what opponents say, that it has a long-lasting effect on the mental health status of prisoners and is cruel and unusual punishment (Koczela and Parr 2017). They found that when confronted with both sides of the argument, the benefits and harms of solitary confinement, that 52% of voters supported the practice and 43% opposed it. The study noted that additional

research into what influences attitudes towards solitary confinement was necessary (Koczela and Parr 2017). Another study investigated public opinion towards solitary confinement specifically in the case of juveniles (Wagage et al. 2017). The study surveyed 1,809 respondents to measure acceptability of solitary confinement based on demographic factors like age and race. The results most related to this study was the finding that support for solitary confinement was not altered by the race of the offender, although the result was not statistically significant. This provides a basis for this study's analysis of the effect of the race of the offender on opinions toward solitary confinement.

Solitary confinement functions differently in people's minds due to their perception of the "worst of the worst" being held in solitary confinement. It is important to understand how solitary confinement as a punishment functions differently than other, less punitive policies. This study also presents the treatment in the form of a news article. This is both unique and purposeful. The news has a significant impact on opinions towards any type of public policy, and more research is necessary to understand how a punitive policy, when presented in a news format, influences public opinion.

Public opinion is a powerful force in American politics. This chapter traced the development of the punitive public in the United States. The news media, through framing and agenda setting, influenced the way Americans perceived crime in their daily lives (Iyengar et al. 1982; Cook et al. 1983; Enns 2016). The punitive public pushed for harsher policies against prisoners, which political elites, who are responsive to public opinion, implemented through "degenerative policy design" (Schneider and Ingraham 1997; Brace and Boyea 2008; Kreitzman and Smith 2018). Race also plays a significant role in public perception of policies. In criminal

justice policies, whites support more punitive policies against blacks (Peffley and Hurwitz 2010; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014).

The creation of punitive attitudes in the public is intimately connected with the implementation of solitary confinement on a larger scale across America. Solitary confinement as a practice exemplifies how public opinion formation can lead to support for punitive policies and cruel correctional design. Solitary confinement is also applied racially, with more people of color being overrepresented in solitary housing units (Flagg et al. 2016; Kupers 2017). The role of the news media on public opinion, and the subsequent development of punitive policies, are tested in this thesis.

Hypotheses

This study analyzes factors that influence public opinion towards the use of solitary confinement through a qualitative news analysis, a content analysis, and a survey experiment. Figure 3 depicts the theoretical background of this study discussed in Chapters 1 and 2, displaying how the commercial news media, public opinion, and policy design are all connected to solitary confinement. The literature has revealed how public opinion towards deviant populations influences policymaking and design (Schneider and Ingraham 1997; Enns 2016; Kreitzman and Smith 2018). The punitive public advocated for harsher policies against prisoners, leading to mass incarceration and the increased use of solitary confinement in the prison system (Alexander 2011; Reiter 2016; Enns 2016). The news media, through agenda setting capabilities and framing, pushed the public to support more punitive policies (Iyengar et al. 1982; Cook et al. 1983; Enns 2016). This study connects the attitudes of the punitive public to support for the use of solitary confinement. The qualitative news analysis and content analysis examines how commercial news media content presents information on solitary confinement to the public. The

survey experiment narrows down to individual public opinion. It investigates what factors influence public support or opposition to, or ambivalence towards, the use of solitary

confinement in the United States correctional system.

Figure 3. Public Opinion, Policy Design, and Punitiveness (with typical cell in ADX Florence from Wikimedia Commons, January 2015)



Based on the literature, I have expectations of how the news media will portray, frame, and address solitary confinement. I expect that media coverage of solitary confinement will be more supportive or neutral than critical of it. I further expect that the media will emphasize the race and criminal offenses of the confined over other attributes. This is because despite solitary confinement continues to be used against prisoners despite the harm it inflicts. This suggests that the media is not using their agenda setting capabilities to address solitary confinement (Iyengar et al. 1982; Cook et al. 1983). Race and crime remain relevant in news portrayals of punishment in the United States, leading the public to associate certain groups of people with higher rates of crime and imprisonment (Enns 2016).

The qualitative research also includes a total news analysis of mentions of solitary confinement in the commercial news media since the development of the first supermax prison. I

expect that the commercial media devotes more attention to mass incarceration and prison reform than solitary confinement (Iyengar et al. 1982; Cook et al. 1983). This may explain why prisons continue to employ solitary confinement. The news analysis reveals how often solitary confinement is mentioned in contrast to other prison related terms such as mass incarceration and prison reform. This elucidates how much attention the media is spending on addressing solitary confinement.

The survey experiment implements framing to observe a relationship between race, crime, and support for solitary confinement. Race and the offense committed are influential factors in both solitary confinement and public opinion on correctional policies. Based on the literature, this study establishes two hypotheses based on the two frames that were applied to individual respondents. First, I predict that racialized frames will increase support for solitary confinement more than race-neutral frames. This hypothesis is based on overwhelming scholarly theory that suggests race has a sustained and direct impact on opinions related to criminal justice polices (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Gilens 1999; Chiricos et al. 2004; Green et al. 2006; Bobo and Johnson 2004; Hurwitz and Peffley, 2007, 2010; Hetey and Eberhardt 2014).

Second, I predict that violent frames will increase support for solitary confinement more than violence-neutral frames. This hypothesis supports the theory that the public considers solitary confinement to hold the "worst of the worst" criminals, and fear of these criminals leads to greater support for the policy (Mears 2013). It also explores the retributive nature of punitive attitudes towards criminals, and the need for an equal punishment fitting the crime.

Chapter 3

News Analyses

How much and how the commercial media reports on solitary confinement are important matters for understanding how media may shape public opinion about that correctional practice. This study relied on original news analyses and a survey experiment (Chapter 4) to empirically examine how a set of theoretically-derived factors, including news consumption, race, and criminal offenses, influence public opinion about solitary confinement. This chapter begins with the news analyses, a mentions analysis and a content analysis, conducted in this study. The news analyses identify how solitary confinement is presented in the media. The news analyses used data from the top United States newspapers to determine how solitary confinement is mentioned and framed in the media. The mentions analysis tracked how often solitary confinement was mentioned in the media, while the content analysis analyzed how solitary confinement was framed in the media. The chapter continues with a presentation of the results from the news analyses. I first analyze the results from the mentions analysis, conducted on the Top 50 major United States newspapers. I then analyze the results from the content analysis which assessed how major United States newspapers were framing solitary confinement. The news analyses inform how the commercial media is framing and depicting solitary confinement to the general American public.

Studying Mentions of and Content about Solitary Confinement: Data and Methods

The commercial news media plays a significant role in the development of public opinion towards punitive policies. I collected data from a sample of mainstream commercial news media to examine how it media portrays solitary confinement to the general public. I first focused on explicit use of the phrase "solitary confinement." The analysis used only news articles from *The*

New York Times, The Washington Post, The Chicago Tribune, The Wall Street Journal, and *The Los Angeles Times.* These are the most prominent news sources in the United States and thus present the most significant area for analysis. I excluded all other news sources and articles that were not from the United States. The exclusion of opinion pieces, editorials, and other sources of writing was intended to demonstrate purely how the news discusses solitary confinement.

I chose a 10-year time period from 2008 to 2018. I selected the time period to observe the depiction of solitary confinement in the news 5 years before and after the prominent case of Kalief Browder. Kalief Browder was an African American male who was 16 years old, falsely accused of a crime, and ultimately was placed in solitary confinement for 400 days on Rikers Island, New York. The case gained widespread media attention surrounding solitary confinement, especially against juveniles, in the United States. The sample was randomly selected from a ProQuest search of news articles discussing solitary confinement. The articles were downloaded then randomly sorted. The search yielded 200 articles. I selected 100 of these articles for content analysis.

I specifically examined the articles for several criteria. The criteria were mentions of race, gender, age, juvenile status, crime committed, mental health, jurisdiction, length of time in solitary, past criminal activity, gangs, or a tone critical of solitary confinement. These criteria were selected for their relationship with the survey experiment I describe in Chapter 5. The survey experiment is intended to observe if race or offense influence support for the use of solitary confinement. News articles mentioning race, crime, and other criteria surrounding solitary confinement effects public opinion on the subject.

This study also used data from the top 50 newspapers, collected through Factiva, in the United States to further analyze the relationship between the media and solitary confinement.

The top 50 newspapers, as identified by Dow Jones, are reputable and popular newspapers that are read by millions of Americans and reach the entire nation. I researched how many times the top 50 newspapers wrote any articles that mentioned the phrases "solitary confinement", "mass incarceration", and "prison reform". In each instance, I excluded the mention of the other phrases and words that were similar in nature. For example, with "solitary confinement", I excluded the phrase "mass incarceration" to examine purely how many times "solitary confinement" was mentioned in an article. With "mass incarceration", I excluded the phrase "solitary confinement" as well as mentions of "supermax", and I conducted a similar measure with prison reform. I researched the mentions from 1989 to 2018. I chose 1989 as the start because it marks the construction of the first supermax prison in California, Pelican Bay State Prison. I did not start in other years because although solitary confinement existed as a practice no modern prison had been built purely for the purpose of solitary confinement.

The mentions and content analyses provide a basis for understanding how often the mainstream commercial media mention solitary confinement and how it portrays the correctional practice. The analyses reveal how the commercial media shape how the public considers and understands the use of solitary confinement in the United States.

Mentions and Content Analysis Results

Figure 4 displays the results of the mentions analysis, based on a total of 30,815 articles I collected via Factiva. The phrase "solitary confinement" appeared in all types of news articles 7,519 times from 1989 to 2017. This indicates that 24.4% of the total number of articles were about solitary confinement. There was a high of 820, mentions in the year of 2015, and a low of 34 times in 1990, the year after the Pelican Bay State Prison was built. Prison reform was mentioned in the top 50 news a total of 18906 times from 1989 to 2017. This indicates that

61.4% of the total number of articles were about prison reform. There was a minimum of 135 mentions in the year 1991, and a maximum of 1578 in the year 2015. Mass incarceration was mentioned a total of 4390 times in the top 50 news. This indicates that 14.2% of the total number of articles were about mass incarceration. There was a maximum of 890 mentions in the year 2016. Mass incarceration spiked and continued to rise starting in the year 2012.

Figure 4. Mentions of Solitary Confinement, Prison Reform, and Mass Incarceration in the Top 50 News Sources in the United States, 1989-2018



Solitary confinement occupies a position between prison reform and mass incarceration in mentions. The data demonstrates that the most popular phrase is prison reform, although solitary confinement is written about a moderate amount of times. Solitary confinement was mentioned more than mass incarceration until the year 2015, when mass incarceration overtook solitary confinement. The majority of media attention is paid to prison reform. This suggests that solitary confinement is certainly mentioned in the media, but in recent years it has lagged in attention, despite the amount of people in solitary confinement increasing. Figure 5 displays the results of the content analysis. The results support the hypothesis that the majority of articles are not critical of solitary confinement. Approximately 33% of the articles expressed a tone that was critical of solitary confinement. The results also support the hypothesis that the majority of articles would mention the crime of the individual. 78% of the articles mentioned the crime committed. The results accept the null hypothesis that race would be mentioned in the majority of the articles. Only 26% of the articles mentioned the race of the offender. The results indicate that gender, crime, and jurisdiction are mentioned in the majority of articles in the sample. Race, age, juvenile status, mental health, length of time in solitary, past criminal history, and gang affiliation are all mentioned in less than half of the articles. Few of the articles mentioned juveniles, despite recent activism surrounding the end of solitary confinement for juveniles. Additionally, mental health was only mentioned 46% of the time, despite solitary confinement often being associated with mental health concerns. However, as noted earlier, only 33% of the articles were critical of the use of solitary confinement, which may explain why mental health is mentioned or addressed less than half of the time.



Figure 5. Solitary Confinement in the Mainstream Commercial Media, 2008-2018

The framing varied based on the newspaper covering solitary confinement. Figure 6 depicts several bar graphs that indicate the differences between the five newspapers framing of solitary confinement. *The New York Times* mentions race, crime, mental health, jurisdiction, length of time, past criminal history, gang affiliation, and a tone more critical of solitary than the other newspapers. The clearest difference is in mentions of crime, where *The New York Times* mentioned crime in 34.6% of the articles, more than any other newspaper. Taken together, the results reveal that *The Washington Post* and *The New York Times* are the most prevalent throughout the content analysis. *The Washington Post* and *The New York Times* are the most prominent newspapers in the United States, explaining why they lead the other newspapers. Across the categories, they lead in the mentioning of various characteristics. *The Wall Street Journal* is the least represented. *The Wall Street Journal* represents the smallest percentage of

almost each category of mentions. *The Wall Street Journal* is more focused on economic and business issues and is also political conservative, which may explain why it focuses less on issues of solitary confinement. This suggests that an analysis of opinion editorials pieces on solitary confinement is necessary. The content analysis demonstrates that solitary confinement is framed uniquely in the media, with few articles being critical of the practice.



Figure 6. Solitary Confinement Article Framing in the Mainstream Commercial Media

Discussion

The news analyses and survey experiment further knowledge related to public opinion on solitary confinement in the United States. First, solitary confinement occupies a position between prison reform and mass incarceration in mentions. Solitary confinement is recognized in the commercial media, although not as often as prison reform. Solitary confinement also experiences a drop in mentions in 2015. The hunger strike in Pelican Bay Prison in California could have increased coverage of solitary confinement, and after the hunger strike ended, coverage

decreased (Reiter 2016). Ultimately, the majority of media attention is paid to prison reform rather than solitary confinement.

The results support the hypothesis that the majority of articles would not be critical of solitary confinement. In the content analysis, less than half of the articles expressed a tone that was critical of solitary confinement. The commercial news media is largely not critical of solitary confinement, which may imply why the practice is increasing in usage, as the public is not aware of the reality of solitary confinement. The results also support the hypothesis that the majority of articles would mention the crime of the individual. 78% of the articles mentioned the crime committed. This indicates that the news frames solitary confinement in terms of the crime committed, which influences public opinion on solitary confinement.

Chapter 4

Survey Experiment

The survey experiment, which tested respondents' opinions on solitary confinement in the prison system, is the empirical center of this thesis. This chapter begins with the data and methods used to analyze the survey experiment. The survey experiment used original data collected from a survey distributed through Amazon Mechanical Turk. To analyze the survey data, I employed an ordinal logistic regression analysis. The chapter also reports the results of the survey experiment. I first assess the topline results from the survey questions, which are presented in tables. I then observe the cross tabulations of the dependent variable with the treatment variables and independent variables such as racial resentment. I then analyze the results from the ordinal logistic regression, which inform the discussion and conclusion of this study.

Data and Methods

I conducted a survey experiment to observe what factors influence public opinion on the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system. Survey experiments are particularly useful for their high internal validity and ability to determine causality (Remler and Van Ryzin 2015). Randomized experiments are the gold standard for demonstrating causation (Remler and Van Ryzin 2015). Specifically, experiments have the "well known advantage of greater precision in estimating causal effects" (Gilliam and Iyengar 2000, 563). Randomized experimental research design involves the application of a treatment to the experimental groups, which can then be compared against a control group to observe a significant difference. In a randomized experiment, the treatment and control are randomly assigned. As a result, the treatment is exogenous. Furthermore, the treatment and control groups are statistically

equivalent, allowing for conclusions to be drawn based solely on the application of the treatment. Randomized experimental design was necessary for this study, as the racial and offense treatments were applied to statistically equivalent groups in order to infer causation. The control group, which received no treatment, served as the counterfactual, as it was statistically equivalent with the treatment groups.

The individuals were surveyed through an online platform called Amazon Mechanical Turk [Mturk]. The total number of respondents was 904. Table 1 depicts the breakdown of respondents by treatment, control, and image. The sample was checked for demographic distribution across the eight treatment groups. The survey included a test question to ensure respondents were actively engaged with the survey. 778 respondents answered the question, while 136 answered the question incorrectly. A chi-squared analysis was conducted between the incorrect responses and the eight treatment groups to ensure they were normally distributed. The chi-square test was not statistically significant, indicating that the people who responded incorrectly to the question were distributed normally. As a result, those respondents were kept in the overall survey analysis of 904 respondents.

Vignette Treatment Groups by Number of	Black	White	Control	Total
Respondents	Image	Image		
Non-violent offense (white collar crime)	79	102	0	181
Non-violent drug offense (buying drugs)	94	120	0	214
Violent drug offense (armed drug				
trafficking)	80	104	0	184
Violent offense (armed robbery)	101	116	0	217
Control	0	0	108	108
Total	354	442	108	904

 Table 1. Vignette Treatment Groups by Number of Respondents, Data from Survey

 Experiment

As a survey experiment, the unit of analysis is the individual respondent to the survey experiment. The survey was designed through the Qualtrics Platform and then uploaded to Amazon Mturk. Berinsky, Huber, and Lenz conducted an analysis of the internal validity of Amazon Mturk, comparing respondents on Mturk to other survey populations and replicating previously done studies on the platform. They found several benefits to using the Amazon Mturk platform. One advantage is cost efficiency, relative to other surveying platforms (Berinsky et al. 2012). They also argued that "relative to other convenience samples, often used in political science, Mturk subjects are often more representative of the general population" (Berinsky et al. 2012, 366).

However, there are a few issues with the use of Mturk. Surveys on Mturk can rely on workers who have logged over 20 hours a week and quickly take the surveys to make more money (Berinsky et al 2012). This creates selection bias within the survey. This problem can be alleviated with the addition of test questions for the treatment and control group, which this study implemented in question 11 of the survey. Survey respondents on Mturk also tend to be younger, better educated, poorer, and whiter than the general population (Chandler and Shapiro 2016). For this experiment, a whiter population is preferred, as whites exhibit more racial bias than other races (Peffley and Hurwitz 2010). The sample was predominantly white, educated, and liberal, as expected based on previous studies using Amazon Mturk (Huber & Lenz 2012; Guisinger 2017; Rho & Tomz 2017). Mturk is also less generalizable than other survey platforms as it is a convenience sample. However, Mturk has methods available to stagger the distribution of the survey to ensure that respondents do not take the survey multiple times. The Qualtrics platform, which I used for survey data analysis, also allows for researchers to ensure representative distribution on demographic variables across the treatment groups. The survey experiment is less generalizable to the general due to the use of Amazon Mturk (Remler and Van Ryzin 2015). Samples taken from Amazon Mturk are convenience samples rather than a random sample from the general population. They are convenience samples because respondents choose to take the survey on the platform, rather than being randomly sampled by the researcher (Chandler and Shapiro 2016). There are methods, however, that can increase the generalizability of a survey experiment done through Amazon Mturk. This study disguised the purpose of the study until the task was accepted. This prevented selection bias and reduced the amount of people that took the study because they were interested in the study (Chandler and Shapiro 2016).

Variables

The questions in the survey were specifically designed to test the causal effect the racial and offense treatments have on support for solitary confinement. The questions were also designed to maximize the internal validity and reliability of the study. The questions were all close-ended with simple words over specialized ones. Scholars suggest that surveys implement close-ended questions with simple wording to avoid confusing the survey takers (Remler and Van Ryzin 2015). Additionally, when relevant, questions were taken from other nationally recognized surveys, such as the American National Election Survey and the General Social Survey. Additional questions were implemented in the survey to ensure statistical equivalence existed between the treatment and control groups. For example, after the application of the treatment or control vignette, respondents were asked a general knowledge question about the vignette they read. This ensured that respondents both read the vignette and were actively engaging with the survey questions. To measure the dependent variable, opinion on solitary confinement, respondents answered the question "In general, do you support the use of solitary confinement in the United States Prison system?" A battery of questions tested responses to the question based on offenses. The question with the most violent offense asked, "How strongly do you approve or disapprove of the use of solitary confinement against the following infraction: killing another inmate." Another question treated mental health as the dependent variable and asked, "Should the mental health impact of solitary confinement be considered when using the practice on inmates." Each of these questions had scaled (1-5) responses from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree. The dependent variables were then recoded onto a -1 to 1 scale, with -1 equaling disagreement, 0 equaling neither agreeing nor disagreeing, and 1 equaling agreement. The somewhat categories were included in the larger agree or disagree category. The dependent variables were recoded this way to combine the somewhat categories into larger agree and disagree categories. This allowed for a more robust analysis in the ordinal logit model on the effect of the treatments and independent variables on the dependent variable.

I included standard control variables in the model. Age, Gender (male), Race (white), Protestants, Catholics, Atheists, Low Education, Democrats, Republicans, Conservatives, Liberals, Income Under 50 thousand, were all recoded into dummy variables. The codebook indicates how they were recoded in R and what categories were excluded. For example, Gender was categorized as males. Partisan identification and ideology were measured by the questions "What is your party affiliation?" and "Would you consider yourself to be conservative, Liberal or moderate?" (Appendix, Survey Experiment Questions). The distributions of key variables such as age, gender, race, and political ideology are depicted in histograms (Appendix, Table 8). The survey experiment includes several independent variables. The most important for my analysis were, Watch News, Watch Prison Documentaries, Mental Health History, History of Incarceration, and Racial Resentment. These were all recoded into dummy categories. News and prison documentary viewing were measured through asking respondents how often they watched cable and network news and if they had seen specific Prison Documentaries. Respondents who had seen documentaries or television related to prisons or solitary confinement could have different opinions towards solitary confinement. As a result, viewing of prison-related documentaries and televisions shows was a significant variable. Mental Health history and History of Incarceration asked respondents if they or a family member had been diagnosed with a mental illness and if they or a family had been incarcerated respectively.

The results of the survey experiment further knowledge related to public opinion on solitary confinement in the United States. The descriptive statistics of the variables indicate that the sample was white, well-educated, and liberal. Table 2 depicts these descriptive statistics. The sample was younger than the general population, with 46.7% being in the age group 18-35. Only 3% of the sample was 64 or older. The sample was split nearly evenly between males and females. Men were 45.3% of the sample and women were 54.6% of the sample. Whites were 73.3% of the sample, while Blacks were only 8.3%. The majority of the sample either had some college or postsecondary school, at 31.9%, or a bachelor's degree, at 39.5%. Only 10% of the sample had a high school education or less, indicating that the majority of sample was at least college educated or higher. The sample was also heavily atheist, more-so than the general United States population, at 36.8%. Catholics and Protestants were the other major religious groups represented in the sample, with 20.3% of the sample identifying as Catholic and 24.8% identifying as Protestant. Respondents religious preferences are important as religion may be connected to punitive attitudes (Whitman 2003). Only 10% of the sample had a high school

education or less, indicating that the majority of sample was at least college educated or higher. The sample was also heavily atheist, more-so than the general United States population, at 36.8%. Catholics and Protestants were the other major religious groups represented in the sample, with 20.3% of the sample identifying as Catholic and 24.8% identifying as Protestant.

	Response	N=904	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age			18	77	39.288	11.659
	18-35	423 (46.7)				
	36-50	308 (34.1)				
	50-64	143 (15.8)				
	64-100	28 (3.09)				
Gender			0	1	0.546	0.498
	Male	410 (45.3)				
	Female	494 (54.6)				
Race			1	5	1.602	1.132
	White	662 (73.3)				
	Black	75 (8.3)				
	Hispanic	53 (5.9)				
	Asian	87 (9.6)				
	Other	26 (2.9)				
Religion			1	11	6.461	3.805
	Catholic	184 (20.3)				
	Protestant	224 (24.8)				
	Atheist/Agnostic/Non-religious	333 (36.8)				
	Spiritual	72 (7.95)				
Education	Other	89 (9.85)				
			1	8	4.821	1.206
	Less than Grade 11	3 (0)				
	High School Graduate/GED	90 (9.95)				
	Some College	288 (31.9)				
	Bachelors Degree	357 (39.5)				
	Some Graduate Study	38 (4.20)				
	Masters	106 (11.7)				
	Doctorate	22 (2.43)				
Party Identification			1	7	3.431	2.002
	Strong Democrat	204 (22.6)				
	Not so strong, Democrat	168 (18.6)				
	Independent, leans Democrat	112 (12.4)				
	Independent	153 (16.9)				
	Independent, leans Republican	82 (9.07)				
	Not so strong, Republican	91 (10.1)				
	Strong Republican	94 (10.4)				
Political Ideology	* *		1	7	4.448	1.972
	Very Conservative	81 (8.96)				
	Somewhat Conservative	132 (14.6)				
	Moderate, leans Conservative	73 (8.08)				
	Moderate	148 (16.4)				
	Moderate, leans Liberal	108 (11.9)				
	Somewhat Liberal	202 (22.3)				
	Very Liberal	159 (17.6)				
Income			1	6	2.873	1.321
	Under 25k	135 (14.9)				
	25k-50k	272 (30.1)				
	50k-74k	231 (25.6)				
	75k-99k	120 (13.3)				
	100k or higher	131 (14.5)				
	Refuse/Don't Know	15 (1.67)				

Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Demographic Variables; Data from Survey Experiment

The survey questions also tested for racial resentment to observe a relationship between support for solitary confinement and racial resentment (Peffley and Hurwitz 2010). While a non-

experimental survey could gauge the effect of racial resentment on support for solitary confinement, scholars have already used non-experimental approaches to do similar studies with punishments such as the death penalty (Barkhan and Cohn 1994; Peffley and Hurwitz 2010). The novelty of this study is the use of a survey experiment to observe the relationship between both race and offense on opinions towards solitary confinement. The addition of the racial resentment questions allows for greater analysis, beyond just the survey experiment, into the influence of race on opinions towards solitary confinement. Racial Resentment was measured through responses to questions such as "Irish, Italians, Jewish, and many other minorities overcame prejudice and worked their way up. Blacks should do the same without special favors." Responses were then combined and recoded onto a 0-4 scale, with 0 indicating no racial resentment and 4 indicating total racial resentment. For example, an individual may strongly agree or somewhat agree with the question: "Irish, Italians, Jewish, and other minorities overcame prejudice and worked their way up. Blacks should do the same without special favors." Respondents would then receive 1, moving upwards on the racial resentment scale. If respondents answered all the questions indicating they expressed racial resentment, they were assigned a score of 4.

I ran correlation tests between the various variables in the study, which are depicted in Table 3. The tests indicated that the majority of the variables had weak to no correlations. The variables that presented stronger correlations were Racial Resentment, Partisanship, and Ideology. Racial Resentment is negatively correlated with Ideology, with resentment decreasing as liberal ideology increases.

Correlations Age		ander Whi	Gender White ID White VD White WC	VD White W	M	C Black II	ite VC Black ID Black VD Black WC	Black WC	Black VC [Black VC DV Solitary DV Guard	DV Guard	DV Killing	DV Gang [DV GangDV Contra DV Hijab		DV MH	Race E	Education	_	ldeologyIn	Income Incarcerate	arcerate MH	l Diagnosis
Age	1.00	-0.13 -	-0.04 -0.	-0.02 -0.05	05 -0.02	0.01	1 -0.01	0.05	0.05	0.02	-0.04	-0.10	-0.11	0.00	0.01	-0.03	-0.17	0.02	0.09	-0.08	-0.04	-0.04	-0.03
Gender	-0.13	1.00	0.02 -0.	-0.01 -0.01	01 0.01	1 0.03	3 0.02	-0.02	-0.02	-0.01	-0.09	-0.02	0.06	-0.01	0.01	0.08	-0.02	0.02	0.12	- 0.06	-0.01	0.05	0.18
White ID	-0.04	0.02	1.00 -0.	-0.14 -0.14	14 -0.15	15 -0.13	3 -0.12	-0.12	-0.14	0.00	-0.02	-0:05	-0.04	0.02	00:0	-0.03	-0.02	-0.04	0.02	0:01 -	-0.02	0.01	0.03
White VD	-0.02	-0.01	-0.14 1	1.00 -0.13	13 -0.14	4 -0.12	2 -0.11	-0.11	-0.13	0.01	-0.03	-0.01	-0.02	0.00	0.02	0.04	0.00	0.02	0.01	-0.02	-0.04	0.05	-0.01
White WC	-0:02	-0.01	-0.14 -0.	-0.13 1.(1.00 -0.14	4 -0.12	2 -0.11	-0.11	-0.13	0.04	0.01	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.04	-0.05	0.01	0.02	0.03	-0.06	0.01	-0.08	-0.01
White VC	-0.02	0.01	-0.15 -0.	-0.14 -0.14	14 1.00	0.13	3 -0.12	-0.12	-0.14	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.02	-0.09	-0.02	-0.01	0.03	-0.01	0.02	0.00	-0.02	00:0
Black ID	0.01	0.03	-0.13 -0.	-0.12 -0.12	12 -0.13	1.00	0 -0.11	-0.11	-0.12	0.00	-0.01	0.00	0.01	-0.01	0.01	0.01	-0.02	0.01	0.03	-0.01	0.04	0.01	-0.01
Black VD	-0.01	0.02	-0.12 -0.	-0.11 -0.11	11 -0.12	2 -0.11	1 1.00	-0.10	-0.11	0.01	-0.02	-0.01	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.04	0.03	0.05	-0.01	-0.04	0.01	-0.04
Black WC	0.05	-0.02	-0.12 -0.	-0.11 -0.11	11 -0.12	11 -0.11	1 -0.10	1.00	-0.11	0.06	0.03	0.01	0.05	0.05	0.04	-0.06	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03	0.02	0.04	0.03	0.03
Black VC	0.05	-0.02	-0.14 -0.	-0.13 -0.13	13 -0.14	4 -0.12	2 -0.11	-0.11	1.00	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.01	-0.02	-0.01	0.00	0.02	-0.07	-0.08	0.07	-0.05	-0.04	0.02
DV Solitary	0.02	-0.01	0.00 0.0	0.01 0.04	04 0.04)4 0.00	0.01	0.06	00.0	1.00	0.53	0.33	0.53	0.61	0.44	-0.52	0.01	-0:0-	-0.29	0.38 -	-0.09	0.03	-0.14
DV Guard	- 0.04	- 60:0-	-0.02 -0.	-0.03 0.01	01 0.05	10.01	1 -0.02	0.03	0.02	0.53	1.00	0.71	0.65	0.57	0.21	-0.33	0.08	-0.03	-0.23	0.27 -	-0.06	0.03	-0.06
DV Killing	-0.10	-0.02	-0.05 -0.	-0.01 0.04	04 0.02)2 0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.33	0.71	1.00	0.55	0.41	0.00	-0.16	0.06	0.05	-0.22	0.23 -	-0.03	0.03	0.01
DV Gang	-0.11	- 90:0	-0.04 -0.	-0.02 0.02	02 0.02	0.01	1 0.00	0.05	0.01	0.53	0.65	0.55	1.00	0.64	0.31	-0.36	0.08	-0.05	-0.25	0.32 -	-0.05	0.03	-0.06
DV Contra.	- 00:0	-0.01	0.02 0.	0.00 0.04	04 0.02)2 -0.01	1 0.00	0.05	-0.02	0.61	0.57	0.41	0.64	1.00	0.43	-0.45	-0.02	-0.06	-0.21	0.29 -	-0.08	00.0	-0.12
DV Hijab	0.01	0.01	0.00 0.	0.02 0.0	0.04 -0.09	90.01	1 0.03	0.04	-0.01	0.44	0.21	0.00	0.31	0.43	1.00	-0.33	0.06	-0:06	-0.24	0.33 -	-0.05	0.04	-0.14
HM VQ	-0.03	0.08	-0.03 0.	0.04 -0.05	05 -0.02	0.01	1 0.00	-0.06	0.00	-0.52	-0.33	-0.16	-0.36	-0.45	-0.33	1.00	-0.07	0.05	0.26	-0.32	0.04	00.0	0.17
Race	-0.17	-0.02	-0.02 0.	0.00 0.01	01 -0.01	11 -0.02	2 0.04	-0.03	0.02	0.01	0.08	0.06	0.08	-0.02	0.06	-0.07	1.00	0.08	-0.16	0.15	0.09	-0.04	0.00
Education	0.02	0.02	-0.04 0.	0.02 0.0	0.02 0.03	0.01	1 0.03	-0.03	-0.07	-0.07	-0.03	0.05	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	0.05	0.08	1.00	0.03	-0.06	0.34	0.13	0.11
Party	0.09	0.12	0.02 0.	0.01 0.0	0.03 -0.01	1 0.03	3 0.05	-0.03	-0.08	-0.29	-0.23	-0.22	-0.25	-0.21	-0.24	0.26	-0.16	0.03	1.00	-0.82	0.05	-0.02	0.14
Ideology	-0.08	-0.06	0.01 -0.	-0.02 -0.06	06 0.02	10.01	1 -0.01	0.02	0.07	0.38	0.27	0.23	0.32	0.29	0.33	-0.32	0.15	-0.06	-0.82	1.00	-0.10	0.04	-0.14
Income	- 0.04	-0.01	-0.02 -0.	-0.04 0.01	01 0.00	0.04	4 -0.04	0.04	-0.05	-0.09	-0.06	-0.03	-0.05	-0.08	-0.05	0.04	0.09	0.34	0.05	-0.10	1.00	0.12	0.12
Incarcerated	-0.04	0.05	0.01 0.	0.05 -0.08	08 -0.02	0.01	1 0.01	0.03	-0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.00	0.04	0.00	-0.04	0.13	-0.02	0.04	0.12	1.00	0.33
MH Diagnosi	-0.03	0.18	0.03 -0.	-0.01 -0.01	01 0.00	0.01	1 -0.04	0.03	0.02	-0.14	-0.06	0.01	-0.06	-0.12	-0.14	0.17	0.00	0.11	0.14	-0.14	0.12	0.33	1.00

Table 3. Correlation Matrix of Variables; Data from Survey Experiment

Experimental Treatments

The vignette acts as the centerpiece of the experiment and was designed to introduce the racial and offense frames to the respondents. Vignettes refer to any type of text or images in an experiment or study to which research participants are asked to respond (Hughes and Huby 2004). In order for vignettes to be internally viable, they must capture the research topic in question (Hughes and Huby 2004). This study's vignette was designed on a real news article about solitary confinement that was edited for conciseness, clarity, and to protect the identities of the real people. The vignette was presented in a news article format. After a series of questions related to demographic information and general knowledge points, the participants were exposed to the vignette. Participants are randomly assigned either the story of a man incarcerated in solitary confinement or a short article about gardening. Four of the treatment groups see an image of a Black male at the beginning of the vignette.

To control for visual characteristics besides race that may affect or confound respondent's attitudes towards the images, significant efforts were employed to ensure both men look similar despite their race. Both men have similar facial hair and features, look at the camera in the same way, are wearing similar outfits, and lack distinguishing features such as tattoos or earrings. Scholars have employed this method to test for racial effects on support of crime and welfare policy in the United States (Gilliam 1999; Gilliam and Iyengar 2000). The vignette purposefully avoids explicit statements in support or opposition to the use of solitary confinement in order to prevent any confounding of the effect of the treatments on the dependent variable. However, some aspects of the vignette discuss what occurs in solitary confinement, which is presented in a negative light. All respondents will be exposed to these statements and thus it will not confound the results.

The survey participants are then treated with four possible offenses; non-violent drug offense, violent drug offense, violent offense, and white-collar offense. These four offenses were chosen specifically to more deeply understand the relationship between offense and opinions on solitary confinement. The addition of four treatment groups, across drug offenses and violence, allows the study to further contribute to the literature on the effect of race on support for punitive policies, especially in relation to drug offenses.

The control group vignette is a story unrelated to politics or criminal justice and discusses the importance of gardening. The name and gender of the person in the control group vignette are the same, to ensure that differences in name or gender do not confound the results between the treatment and control groups. Respondents are then asked a series of questions about their support for solitary confinement. By comparing levels of support across groups, I assess the causal effect of race and criminal action on individual opinion towards solitary confinement. Randomized experiments, when done correctly, result in the statistical equivalence of the treatment and control groups.

I used an ordinal logistic regression to model the data from the survey. I selected ordinal logistic regression because the dependent variable opinion on solitary confinement is scaled from strongly agree to strongly disagree. Ordinal logistic regression predicts an ordinal dependent variable given multiple independent variables. Ordinal logistic regression allowed for an observance of opinion on solitary confinement based on the independent variables as well as the treatment variables. The analysis included runs of different models, varying by specifications informed by theory and in accordance with my hypotheses.

Results

Table 4 depicts the descriptive statistics of the independent variables in the survey experiment. The prison knowledge variables demonstrate that the sample was relatively aware of the prison system. 61.2% of respondents answered the prison population question correctly, estimating the population to be around 2 million. Additionally, a majority of the sample, 54.8%, estimated the white population correctly at 30% of the prison population. People were more likely to overestimate the numbers of Blacks in the prison system. The prison population is only around 30% Black, which 29.2% of the sample answered correctly, although Blacks are overrepresented based on their share of the United States general population. 40.4% of respondents believed Blacks were 50% of the prison population and a significant amount, 23.9%, believed Blacks were 70% of the prison population.

	Response	N=904	Min		Max		Mean	Std. Deviation
Prison Population				1		4	3.015	0.662
	About 100,000	15 (1.65)						
	About 500,000	146 (16.2)						
	About 2 million	553 (61.2)						
	About 5 million	190 (21.0)						
Prison Population White				1		4	2.249	0.781
-	About 10%	125 (13.8)						
	About 30%	495 (54.8)						
	Abour 50%	218 (24.1)						
	About 70%	66 (7.30)						
Prison Population Black				1		4	2.816	0.871
	About 10%	59 (5.52)						
	About 30%	264 (29.2)						
	About 50%	365 (40.4)						
	About 70%	216 (23.9)						
Watch Cable News				1		6	3.611	1.693
	Never	159 (17.6)						
	Rarely	97 (10.7)						
	Sometimes	142 (15.7)						
	Frequently	169 (18.7)						
	Often	206 (22.8)						
	Always	131 (14.5)						
Watch Network News				1		6	3.589	1.664
	Never	141 (15.6)		•		Ŭ	0.000	1.001
	Rarely	113 (12.5)						
	Sometimes	151 (16.7)						
	Frequently	172 (19.0)						
	Often	196 (21.7)						
	Always	126 (13.9)						
Watch Prison Documentari		120 (15.5)		1		2	0.24	0.646
Watch Trison Documentari	Yes	134 (14.8)		1		2	0.2	0.010
	No	770 (85.1)						
History of Incarceration	110	//0 (05.1)		0		1	0.209	0.407
filstory of filtarceration	Yes	189 (20.9)		U		1	0.209	0.107
	No	715 (79.1)						
History of Mental Health II		(15(1).1)		0		1	0.377	0.485
mistory of mental meatil ff	Yes	341 (37.7)		0		1	0.577	0.405
	No	563 (62.3)						
	110	505 (02.5)						

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Independent Variables; Data from Survey Experiment

The study included two variables about watching news. Respondents were asked how often they watched cable news and network news. 82.4% of respondents watched some form of cable news, while 83.9% of respondents watched network news. This indicates that in this study,

the majority of respondents were watching some form of the news at least once a year, with most watching sometimes or frequently.

Table 5 depicts the descriptive statistics of the main dependent variable, opinion on solitary confinement, and other related questions in the survey. The responses to the dependent variable and other questions about opinions on solitary confinement indicate that the survey sample generally opposes the use of solitary confinement. Foremost, the majority of respondents disagreed with the use of solitary confinement, 57.8% of the sample. 30.7% of the sample approved of the use of solitary confinement. The various offenses reveal how opinion changes depending on the crime. Notably, when the crime was killing another inmate, 59% of the sample strongly approved of the use of solitary confinement, and 77% of the sample at least approved of using solitary confinement. Another violent offense, fighting a guard, also garnered more approval for the use of solitary confinement. 58.6% of the sample indicated some form of approval for the use of solitary confinement when the offense was fighting a guard. This is contrasted when the offense was wearing a hijab. 66.6% of respondents strongly disagreed with the use of solitary confinement, with 80.6% indicating disapproval. A majority of respondents also disapproved when the offense was possession of contraband, with 61.5% indicating disapproval. The nature of the offense, whether violent or non-violent, clearly influences support for the use of solitary confinement against incarcerated persons.

Dependent Variable	Response	N=904	Min	Max	М	ean Std.	Deviation
Opinion on Solitary Confinement (SC)				1	5	3.466	1.314
	Strongly Approve	72 (8.0))				
	Somewhat Approve	205 (22.2	7)				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	104 (11.:	5)				
	Somewhat Disapprove	276 (30.5	5)				
	Strongly Disapprove	247 (27.	3)				
Opinion on SC: Offense equals Guard Fight	ing			1	5	2.65	1.415
	Strongly Approve	221 (24.4	4)				
	Somewhat Approve	309 (34.2	2)				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	84 (9.2	9)				
	Somewhat Disapprove	145 (16.0))				
	Strongly Disapprove	145 (16.0))				
Opinion on SC: Offense equals Killing an In	mate		<i>`</i>	1	5	1.868	1.284
	Strongly Approve	533 (59.0))				
	Somewhat Approve	163 (18.0	0)				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	75 (8.	3)				
	Somewhat Disapprove	60 (6.64	4)				
	Strongly Disapprove	73 (8.08	8)				
Opinion on SC: Offense equals Gang Affilia	tion			1	5	3.118	1.358
	Strongly Approve	128 (14.2	2)				
	Somewhat Approve	212 (23.:	5)				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	178 (19.	,				
	Somewhat Disapprove	197 (21.8	3)				
	Strongly Disapprove	189 (20.9					
Opinion on SC: Offense equals Contraband		``````````````````````````````````````	/	1	5	3.648	1.269
	Strongly Approve	64 (7.08	3)				
	Somewhat Approve	137 (15.2					
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	147 (16.3	·				
	Somewhat Disapprove	261 (28.9	·				
	Strongly Disapprove	295 (32.0	<u>.</u>				
Opinion on SC: Offense equals wearing a H	ijab		<i>,</i>	1	5	4.385	1.018
	Strongly Approve	22 (2.43	3)				
	Somewhat Approve	41 (4.54	4)				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	106 (11.	7)				
	Somewhat Disapprove	133 (14.)	7)				
	Strongly Disapprove	602 (66.0	<u>.</u>				
Opinion on Considering Mental Health in So	<u> </u>	,	,	1	5	1.614	0.927
~	Strongly Approve	537 (59.4	4)				
	Somewhat Approve	252 (27.9	·				
	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	62 (6.80	·				
	Somewhat Disapprove	33 (3.6	·				
	Strongly Disapprove	20 (2.2)	·				

Table 5. Descriptive Statistics of Dependent Variables; Data from Survey Experiment

The survey also asked respondents if the mental health of the inmate should be considered when using solitary confinement. The vast majority of respondents, 87.3%, indicated that they approved with considering mental health when using the practice against inmates. This indicates that respondents support mental health considerations in the administration of solitary confinement in the United States Prison System.
Cross Tabulations

The cross tabulations further reveal the characteristics of the sample. Table 6 displays the cross tabulation between racial resentment and the dependent variable. 45.1% of respondents expressed no racial resentment to any of the four racial resentment questions. 52% of respondents who expressed the most racial resentment also approved the use of solitary confinement, while 76% of respondents who expressed no racial resentment disagreed with the use of solitary confinement. The approve column demonstrates that as racial resentment increases, support for solitary confinement increases among respondents. 14% of people who expressed no racial resentment approved of the use of solitary confinement. 41% of respondents who expressed complete racial resentment also disapproved with the use of solitary confinement. These statistics indicate that racial resentment is an important measure in understanding opinion on the use of solitary confinement.

Cross Tab Racial Resentment and DV	Disapprove	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	Approve	Total
0	311(0.76)	39 (0.10)	58 (0.14)	408
1	46 (0.45)	20 (0.20)	36 (0.35)	100
2	57 (0.42)	24 (0.18)	55 (0.40)	136
3	42 (0.45)	10 (0.11)	42 (0.45)	94
4	67 (0.41)	11 (0.07)	86 (0.52)	164
Total	523	104	277	904
		Chi-Square	e Test Statistic	: 131.01
			p-value: 2.2	e-16***
		***p ≤ 0.001	; $*p \le 0.01$; *	$p \leq .05$
Racial Resentment Coding:		*	-	-
0=No racial resentment expressed				

Table 6. "Do you support the use of Solitary Confinement in the United States prisor	1
system?"	

4=Racial resentment expressed on every question

The cross tabulation of the treatment variables and the dependent variable, in Table 7, illustrates how offense and race influence opinion on solitary confinement. The treatment that had the most disapproval was Black White-Collar Crime, with 71% of respondents disapproving of the use of solitary confinement in that case. White White-Collar Crime also had 64% of respondents who observed the treatment disapproving with the use of solitary confinement. White-Collar Crime, the clearest non-violent crime in the treatment groups, had the most disapproval of the use of solitary confinement within the sample. The offense that had the most approval was Black Violent Crime, with 35% of respondents also disapproved of the use of solitary confinement in that case. However, 58% of respondents also disapproved of the use of solitary confinement, with 48% of respondents indicating approval. This suggests the vignette influenced people's opinions on solitary confinement. The cross tabulation of the treatment variables and dependent variable indicates that the sample generally disapproved of solitary confinement, except when they were treated with the control.

		Neither				
		Approve Nor				
Cross Tab of Treatments and DV	Disapprove	Disapprove	Approve	Total		
Control	40 (0.37)	16 (0.15)	52 (0.48)	108		
White: Illegal Drugs	67 (0.56)	13 (0.11)	40 (0.33)	120		
White: Violent Drugs	63 (0.61)	11 (0.11)	30 (0.29)	104		
White: White Collar Crime	65 (0.64)	10 (0.10)	27 (0.26)	102		
White: Violent Crime	69 (0.59)	20 (0.17)	27 (0.23)	116		
Black: Illegal Drugs	55 (0.59)	10 (0.11)	29 (0.31)	94		
Black: Violent Drugs	49 (0.61)	11 (0.14)	20 (0.25)	80		
Black: White Collar Crime	56 (0.71)	6 (0.08)	17 (0.22)	79		
Black: Violent Crime	59 (0.58)	7 (0.07)	35 (0.35)	101		
Total	523	104	277	904		
		Chi-Squ	are Test Statisti	ic: 36.823		
p-value: 0.0021**						
		*** $p \le 0.0$	01; ** $p \le 0.01$;	* $p \le .05$		

Table 7. "Do you support the use of Solitary Confinement in the United States prison system?"

Table 8 depicts the cross tabulations between racial resentment and the treatment

variables. The cross tabulation indicates the respondents who expressed racial resentment were spread throughout the sample population. Across the treatment variables, respondents with racial resentment were distributed almost evenly.

Table 8. Racial Resentment and Treatment Variables

Cross Tab Racial Resentment and Treatments	Control	White IC	White VD	White WC	White VC	Black ID	Black VD	Black WC	Black VC	Total
	47 (0.12)	52 (0.13)	49 (0.12)	41 (0.10)	51 (0.12)	40 (0.10)	37 (0.09)	36 (0.09)	55 (0.13)	408
	14 (0.14)	14 (0.14)	8 (0.08)	16 (0.16)	17 (0.17)	9 (0.09)	6 (0.06)	10 (0.10)	8 (0.08)	102
	13 (0.10)	19 (0.14)	16 (0.12)	16 (0.12)	20 (0.15)	14 (0.10)	6 (0.04)	15 (0.11)	17 (0.12)	136
	12 (0.13)	18 (0.19)	12 (0.13)	11 (0.12)	9 (0.10)	11 (0.12)	8 (0.09)	6 (0.06)	7 (0.07)	94
	22 (0.13)	17 (0.10)	19 (0.12)	18 (0.11)	19 (0.12)	20 (0.12)	23 (0.14)	12 (0.07)	14 (0.09)	164
Total	108	120	104	102	116	94	80	79	101	904
Racial Resentment Coding:	Racial Resentment Coding: Chi-Square Test Statistic: 28.673							ttistic: 28.673		
)=No racial resentment expressed p-value: 0.6357										
4=Racial resentment expressed on every question								***p	≤0.001;**p	≤0.01; *p≤.05

Table 9 presents the results of the main regression analysis of this study. The table depicts five models displaying results of an ordered logit analysis of the dependent variable; approval of the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system. The table includes 5 models to see how the addition of variables to the regression influences the degrees of freedom the coefficients. The first model includes only the demographic variables. The reference category for Democrats, Republicans, Liberals, and Conservatives are Independents and Moderates respectively. In this model, age, Catholics, and liberals proved to be significant demographic variables. The younger age category, 18-35, was statistically less likely to approve of the use of solitary confinement. Liberals were also statistically less likely to approve of the use of solitary confinement. Catholics were more likely to support the use of solitary confinement in the sample.

(-1 = Disapprove;)	0 = Neither Approve No	r Disapprove	e; 1 = Approv	ve)	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5
Demographic Variables					
Age (18-35)	-0.435**		-0.345		-0.390
	(0.160)		(0.168)		(0.170
Gender (Male)	-0.064		-0.061		-0.05
	(0.144)		(0.147)		(0.149
White	-0.150		-0.247		-0.23
	(0.162)		(0.166)		(0.169
Protestants	0.256		0.271		0.22
Catholics	(0.212)		(0.215)		(0.219
Catholics	0.500*		0.425		0.36
Atheists	(0.222)		(0.225)		(0.229
Aucists	-0.171		-0.069		-0.09
Education (Low)	(0.208) -0.157		(0.213)		(0.217 -0.13
Education (Eow)	(0.287)		-0.123 (0.291)		-0.13 (0.297
Democrats	-0.449		-0.321		-0.32
	(0.231)		(0.235)		(0.241
Republicans	-0.052		-0.270		-0.20
	(0.260)		(0.266)		(0.272
Conservatives	0.185		0.083		0.05
	(0.256)		(0.261)		(0.266
Liberals	-0.716**		-0.645**		-0.678*
	(0.233)		(0.239)		(0.241
Income (Under 50k)	-0.461		-0.582		-0.20
	(0.511)		(0.520)		(0.543
Independent Variables					
Watch News		0.331*	0.349*		0.370
		(0.144)	(0.159)		(0.161
Watch Prison Documentaries		0.419*	0.338		0.39
		(0.182)	(0.201)		(0.205
Prison Knowledge		0.055	0.050		0.03
		(0.086)	(0.092)		(0.093
Racial Resentment			0.314***		0.317**
			(0.053)		(0.054
Mental Health History			-0.134		-0.17
			(0.163)		(0.167
History of Incarceration		0.136	0.114		0.15
		(0.161)	(0.187)		(0.192
Treatment Variables					
White: Illegal Drugs				-0.693**	-0.843*
White: Violent Drugs				(0.254) -0.896***	(0.281) -1.089**
white. violent Diugs					
White: White Collar Crime				(0.267) -1.02***	(0.297
while, while Cohai Clillic					-1.298** (0.299
White: Violent Crime				(0.272) -0.950***	-1.139**
				-0.950***	(0.284
Black: Illegal Drugs				-0.805**	-0.958*
				(0.273)	(0.300
Black: Violent Drugs				-0.974***	-1.154**
·				(0.287)	(0.314
Black: White Collar Crime				-1.34***	-1.471**
				(0.305)	(0.332
Black: Violent Crime				-0.739**	-0.713
				(0.269)	(0.296
				· ···/	(, · · · ·

Table 9. Results of Ordinal Logit Models

Model 2 includes only independent variables related to the news and the prison system; watching the news, watching prison documentaries, prison knowledge, and history of incarceration. In this model, respondents were statistically more likely to support the use of solitary confinement if they both the news and prison documentaries.

Model 3 includes all of the dependent variables and independent variables, adding racial resentment. In this model, Liberals remain statistically significant in disapproval towards the use of solitary confinement. Watching the news also increases support for the use of solitary confinement. Finally, expressing racial resentment indicated statistically significant higher approval for the use of solitary confinement. This follows the relationship observed between racial resentment and the dependent variable in the cross tabulations.

Model 4 includes only the treatment variables. The reference category for the treatment variables is the control article. The model indicates that across all treatment groups, regardless of crime or race, respondents opposed the use of solitary confinement. The model accepts the null hypotheses that respondents would be more likely to support the use of solitary confinement when shown a black offender with a more violent crime. However, differences arise between the levels of disapproval between whites and blacks. The treatment variable with respondents who were most likely to support the use of solitary confinement was a white offender who had committed a non-violent, illegal drug related crime. The treatment variable with respondents who were least likely to support the use of solitary confinement was a white offender who had committed a non-violent, white collar crime. In the treatment where I expected to observe the most support for the use of solitary confinement, when the offender was black and the crime was violent, respondents still opposed the use of solitary confinement. To observe differences between the treatment groups, a model was run where white illegal drugs served as the reference point. In this model, the coefficient values did not change significantly from when the control served as the reference point in Models 4 and 5, indicating that there is no significant difference between the treatment conditions. However, the difference between the coefficients is not overwhelmingly large or operating in a different direction. This further demonstrates that respondents were overwhelmingly disapproving of the use of solitary confinement, regardless of race or offense.

Model 5 includes all of the variables in one regression. The model presents similar relationships between the variables and opinions on solitary confinement as the earlier models. Watching the news made respondents statistically more likely to support the use of solitary confinement. Respondents who expressed racial resentment were also statistically more likely to support the use of solitary confinement. Liberals and the young were statistically less likely to support the use of solitary confinement. The treatment variables all maintained statistically significant negative coefficients, again indicating that the sample disapproved of solitary confinement.

This study employed the use of other dependent variables to further investigate opinions on solitary confinement. Table 11 (Appendix) depicts the model of respondents' opinions on solitary confinement when the offender has killed an inmate, a violent offense. None of the treatment group variables were statistically significant, however, those who observed crimes that involved illegal or violent drug offenses, both black and white, were more likely to support the use of solitary confinement. Watching the news also statistically significantly increased support for the use of solitary confinement among respondents. Respondents who had seen at least one prison documentary were statistically less likely to support the use of solitary confinement. The demographic variables presented interesting findings. Catholics and Conservatives were statistically more likely to support the use of solitary confinement in the case of the offender killing another inmate. Liberals, similar to Model 1, were statistically less likely to support the use of solitary confinement in this case.

Table 12 (Appendix) observed survey responses to the question, "Should the mental health of solitary confinement be considered when using the practice against inmates". Most notably, in this model the variable Mental Health history ("have you or a family member ever been diagnosed with a mental illness") made those with a family history of mental health diagnoses statistically more likely to disapprove of using solitary confinement against incarcerated persons.

Discussion

The survey experiment findings indicate important trends that influence the study of public opinion and punitive policies. Respondents who watched the news were statistically more likely to support solitary confinement, indicating the importance of the news in understanding opinion towards solitary. Racial resentment was also a significant variable in the models. The respondents that indicated higher levels of racial resentment were more likely to support the use of solitary confinement. Although the treatment variables indicated no differences with race, racial resentment remains an important variable in understanding opinion on criminal justice policies in the United States. Other demographic variables also proved significant. Liberals, across all the models, were significantly less likely to support the use of solitary confinement.

The treatment variables presented an interesting relationship with opinion on solitary confinement. With the control variable as the reference category, every treatment variable was statistically significantly negative. This indicates that respondents in the sample generally disapproved of the use of solitary confinement. These findings have implications for priming and the news media. Respondents who observed the news story about solitary confinement, as opposed to the control story about gardening, were significantly less likely to support solitary confinement. This indicates that news stories about solitary confinement, and the experiences of those who have been in solitary confinement, change people's perceptions on the issue. Respondents who were not primed on the issue and saw the control treatment were more likely to support solitary confinement. Priming respondents with the stories of those in solitary confinement reduces their support of the issue. This priming effect has important inferences for the news analyses, indicating that the stories of those in solitary confinement and the effect it has on their day to day lives may reduce public support for the practice. More research is necessary into how priming respondents with the stories of those in solitary confinement, whether presented in a news article or possibly another format, influences opinion on the practice.

Conclusion

Solitary confinement is a significantly punitive punishment. After the death penalty, no punishment does more to harm, dehumanize, and disregard the prisoner. Solitary confinement was noted for its inhumane nature in the 19th century, yet the practice continues over 200 years later in 44 states, showing no signs of slowing. It is important for scholars, the American criminal justice system, and the American public to understand the rise of solitary confinement. This study filled the gaps in the scholarly literature regarding the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system, employing two news analyses and a survey experiment to better understand the effects of the news and public opinion on the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system. The data demonstrates that solitary confinement is a unique punishment in the criminal justice system.

The news appears to be demonstrably important in understanding the use of solitary confinement in the United States. The mentions analysis of the top 50 news sources revealed that solitary confinement is written about often in the news, although not as often as prison reform or in recent years mass incarceration. In recent years, both prison reform and mass incarceration have surpassed solitary confinement, despite solitary confinement being employed in increasing numbers. This is a concerning trend and supports the idea that solitary confinement is operating in the background, hidden from public view. The content analysis demonstrated that when the news is writing about solitary confinement, it is not in a critical light. The lack of criticism against solitary confinement in major news sources contributes to public misunderstanding of the punishment. More criticism about the mental health impact and the increasing harshness that prisons are inflicting against those in solitary confinement is essential to understanding the practice. Furthermore, when newspapers write about solitary confinement, they rarely

acknowledge race. This may explain why race is often not a significant factor in respondents' opinions on solitary confinement in the survey experiment. Solitary confinement is associated with the crime committed, as the content analysis revealed, but race is not something the news connects with the implementation of solitary confinement. The news does connect crime with solitary confinement. The connection between crime and solitary confinement leads the public to support the use of the punitive policy against the deserving or the deviant.

The survey experiment indicates that further research is necessary into the effect news and watching prison documentaries has on support for the use of solitary confinement. Watching the news increased respondents support of solitary confinement across several of the models. The news clearly influences the way people understand solitary confinement in the United States. The influence of news on solitary confinement relates to the fear of crime hypothesis. The American News cycle, both cable and network news, often presents the most heinous offenses occurring throughout the nation. Network news even portrays the dangers of individual towns and neighborhoods. The news had a significant effect on the rising public punitiveness (Enns 2016), and that effect may translate into supporting solitary confinement.

The priming effect of the survey experiment also explains why the connection between the news and solitary confinement is significant. All the respondents who observed the treatment news article decreased their support of solitary confinement in comparison to the control group. This indicates that news articles telling the personal stories of those in solitary confinement could be a significant factor in reducing public support for solitary confinement. When activists and reformers search for ways to change public opinion on solitary confinement, they should consider using the personal stories of those who have endured the punishment. Race remains relevant in understanding solitary confinement. This thesis noted how solitary confinement is applied racially across several states. Despite the race of the offender not significantly influencing the respondents, those who expressed racial resentment were significantly more likely to support solitary confinement. Throughout American political institutions, and especially in the criminal justice system, racial resentment continues to operate as an indicator for support for harsher policies against African Americans. Solitary confinement operates no differently. Solitary confinement is often thought of as a race-neutral policy, based more on crime or infraction. However, similar to nearly all other criminal justice policies, race is a relevant factor when considering support for solitary confinement.

The survey experiment revealed the effect of ideology on support for solitary confinement. Liberals, across the models, were not supportive of the use of solitary confinement. Liberals opposing solitary confinement follows political science theory that suggests liberal ideologies are less punitive. Model 2 indicated that certain demographic variables are more likely to support solitary confinement when the offense is severely violent, such as killing an inmate. Conservatives and Catholics were more likely to support solitary confinement in this case. Murder is a particularly heinous crime, which may explain why Catholics are more likely to support the infliction of solitary confinement against an individual who commits that act.

The content analysis and the news analysis of the top 50 news begs for further investigation. Greater attention must be paid to how is solitary confinement being framed in the media. Does the belief in the "worst of the worst" in solitary confinement outweigh any sympathetic framings? The media's influence on the American public has spread beyond physical newspapers, to the television and online. A longitudinal study, similar to the one I conducted on the top 50 newspapers, on the number of television stories about solitary confinement, is necessary. The data would reveal how deeply television has affected perceptions of solitary confinement. Furthermore, a study on the impact of the internet on solitary confinement is needed. If possible, the study would reveal if there has been attention paid to solitary confinement on the internet. Finally, the impact of books related to solitary confinement, such as *Hell is a Very Small Place*, requires research. The stories of people who are in solitary confinement are shocking and disturbing, and their collection in books such as *Hell* could reveal a relationship between the public's punitiveness and solitary confinement. Will people soften their views in the face of brutal stories about solitary confinement, or will they double down on their beliefs? The survey experiment in this study indicated that the general public opposes solitary confinement, but the story was relatively sanitized. A harsher story about the severity of solitary confinement, with more shocking offenses, such as terrorism or murder, could reveal different reactions to solitary confinement. These are questions that beg further study and would provide for interesting research topics.

The Department of Justice also must begin collecting overtime data on the numbers of people in solitary confinement. The lack of over time data prevents an analysis into the numbers of solitary confinement throughout the decades. Without this data, political scientists are unable to analyze how specific state and federal policies influence the amount of people in solitary confinement. Researchers can only estimate how many people are subjected to this punishment, which makes research difficult and leads to the practice of solitary confinement operating in the background without attention.

The cost of solitary confinement is an area that needs further research. Money is a large motivating factor in politics, and the costs of supermax prisons and solitary confinement are relatively unobserved. A cost benefit analysis of solitary confinement is important to

highlighting its ineffectiveness. The public must be made aware of the costs of solitary confinement, especially regarding the construction of increasingly complex and expensive supermax prisons. Furthermore, more information is necessary on the number of prisoners held in solitary confinement in public prisons and private prisons. Are private prisons more likely to use solitary confinement than public prisons? This is an important question that connects to the general acknowledgment of the issues with private prisons in the American prison system (Alexander 2011).

An analysis into how the public feels about the connection between safety and solitary confinement is necessary. Prison officials argue that supermax prisons are designed to keep the public safer and to remove the most dangerous individuals from society. One question that is important is, does the public feel safer with solitary confinement? Does the public feel safer with supermaximum prisons? The objective goal of the supermaximum prisons is "protecting the public", but does the public actually feel protected with the construction and development of supermaximum prisons? These are important questions that require further analysis.

Another area of study is measuring what political factors influence the building of a Supermax prison in a state. Are conservative states more likely to construct and build supermaximum prisons? Additionally, are conservative states more likely to have higher numbers of people in solitary confinement. Research on the politics of solitary confinement, especially with the implementation of supermaximum prisons, would contribute greatly to the literature.

There are several areas where this study could be improved and where further research can expand on the findings. The use of Amazon Mturk limits the generalizability of the survey experiment. Amazon Mturk is a convenience sample that has whiter, more liberal, and better educated respondents that the general population. Amazon Mturk was used due to the cost limitations of this study. However, the use of a better surveying platform would benefit the results of this study and increase the generalizability. The survey experiment also would have benefitted from the inclusion of questions about reading the news. Given the content analysis, a greater connection between the written news and opinions on solitary confinement could have been elicited. Furthermore, questions about awareness of mass incarceration and prison reform would have benefitted the prison knowledge variable and expanded the news analysis comparison between mass incarceration, prison reform, and solitary confinement.

Another area where the study could be improved is the addition of treatment categories that focus on variation of race and infraction, rather than the initial crime. The majority of prisoners end up in solitary confinement for committing an infraction in the prison system (Kupers 2017). As a result, an experiment that varies that infraction committed in the prison would be closer to the reality of solitary confinement and further elucidate opinions on solitary confinement.

There is hope for the abolition of solitary confinement. In Colorado, long-term solitary confinement was banned for longer than 15 days in October of 2017. Websites like solitary watch and groups such as the ACLU have organized successful campaigns to bring attention to solitary confinement. Colorado stands as an example to other states on successfully ending solitary confinement. The prison chief Rick Raemisch wrote, after spending 20 hours in a solitary cell, that "[solitary] has not solved any problems, at best it has maintained them" (Raemisch 2017). It is likely that one of the best ways to end solitary confinement is an appeal to the prison chief of the state.

Colorado is not the only state where reform has happened. Maine stands as another

example of reform. Maine implemented reforms to ensure fewer people were being sent to solitary, and those that did get sent to solitary, were spending less time there. They also implemented clear paths for people to leave solitary through achievable goals. Maine was able to change the way it deals with solitary confinement through legislation and activism. The stories of those who had endured solitary confinement, were particularly influential on changing the opinions of legislators. Through pressure from various organizations, including the NAACP and the ACLU, Maine passed the bill, An Act to Ensure Human Treatment for Special Management Persons (Heiden 2013).

Maine and Colorado demonstrate that opinion towards solitary confinement is changing. In both instances, the stories of those who had been in solitary confinement were particularly important in reducing the practice. This may suggest that highlighting the stories of the incarcerated, especially those in solitary confinement, can change the way the public thinks about punitive policies. Activists have learned to emphasize the damage solitary confinement does to both physical and mental health, essentially equating it with torture. Clearly, the punitive policymaking is at a turning point, and the way to create substantial change is to continue to highlight the abuses of the American criminal justice system.

The American criminal justice system is a beast. It dehumanizes and destroys its prisoners. Solitary confinement operates as a dangerous arm of the system, locking people away for years to be stored like produce. The testimonies from formerly incarcerated people in solitary confinement should shock the conscience of any moral person for their brutality. However, solitary confinement has shown little signs of slowing. It is the responsibility of the people to act as watchdogs against solitary confinement, otherwise, it will continue into perpetuity. However, it is not only the responsibility of the people. Scholarly fields, especially political science, must pay more attention to the relationships between our punitive policies and political institutions. Solitary confinement has operated as a relatively hidden punishment. Despite this, political scientists must work to understand how this punishment is employed and how the carceral state continues to affect our political institutions. Solitary will not operate in secret forever. People are beginning to pay more attention to solitary confinement. Already, we see websites such as Solitary Watch and television shows such as *Orange is the New Black* highlighting the viciousness of solitary confinement. More work is required to bring attention to the practice and to create effective change in the criminal justice system.

Appendix

Table 10: Solitary Confinement, Prison Reform, and Mass Incarceration in the News, 1989-2018 -- Top 50 US News Sources in the USA (Data from Factiva)

Year	Solitary Confinement in the News	Prison Reform in the News	Mass Incarceration in the News
1989	News 36	135	Mass mearceration in the News
<u>1990</u> 1991	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	12
1991	72	203	7
1992	52	262	12
1993	50	389	17
1994	47	277	14
1996	44	248	10
1997	62	249	14
1998	65	210	5
1999	70	210	15
2000	161	399	28
2001	114	291	22
2002	373	800	36
2003	211	582	35
2004	288	675	30
2005	248	694	48
2006	314	724	48
2007	257	601	38
2008	255	623	54
2009	246	868	53
2010	202	763	51
2011	249	673	69
2012	358	788	138
2013	452	872	211
2014	584	1086	293
2015	820	1488	738
2016	709	1537	890
2017	605	1226	672
2018	479	1578	811
Total	7519	18906	4390

Histograms of Survey Experiment Sample





Figure 8: Histogram of Racial Identity; Data from Survey Experiment





Figure 9: Histogram of Gender; Data from Survey Experiment

Figure 10: Histogram of Education; Data from Survey Experiment





Figure 11: Histogram of Income; Data from Survey Experiment

Figure 12: Histogram of Ideology; Data from Survey Experiment







		b	se
Treatment Variables			
	White: Illegal Drugs	0.052	0.343
	White: Violent Drugs	0.246	0.362
	White: White Collar Crime	-0.157	0.346
	White: Violent Crime	-0.107	0.333
	Black: Illegal Drugs	-0.052	0.358
	Black: Violent Drugs	0.113	0.378
	Black: White Collar Crime	0.192	0.39
	Black: Violent Crime	-0.070	0.340
Independent Variables			
	Watch News	0.366*	0.182
	Watch Prison Documentaries	927***	0.219
	Prison Knowledge	0.164	0.107
	Racial Resentment	0.177	0.070
Demographic Variables			
	Catholics	0.568*	0.274
	Republicans	1.043**	0.359
	Liberals	-0.886**	0.31

Table 11: Regression Table of Opinion on Killing another Inmate; Data from Survey Experiment Ordered Logit Estimates of Approval of the Use of Solitary Confinement when the offense is

Ordered Logit Estimates of Considering Mental E solitary confinement	icanin of the filter contact (inch using
(-1 = Disapprove; 0 = Neither Approve Nor Disappro	ove; 1 = Approve)	
	b	se
Treatment Variables		
White: Illegal Drugs	-0.429	0.361
White: Violent Drugs	-0.614	0.379
White: White Collar Crime	-0.888*	0.392
White: Violent Crime	0.101	0.340
Black: Illegal Drugs	-0.394	0.387
Black: Violent Drugs	-0.555	0.412
Black: White Collar Crime	-0.986*	0.453
Black: Violent Crime	-0.228	0.36
Independent Variables		
Watch Prison Documentaries	0.966***	0.244
Mental Health History	-0.758**	0.234
Demographic Variables		
Atheists	-0.768**	0.28
Conservatives	0.767*	0.31
Liberals	-0.884*	0.347
	*** $p \le 0.001; **p \le 0.001$	$01; *p \le .05$

Table 12: Regression Table of Opinion on Mental Health Considerations; Data from Survey Experiment Ordered Logit Estimates of Considering Mental Health of the Incarcerated when using

Survey Experiment Questions

Pre-Vignette – Questions Randomized

- 1. Are you 18 years or older? Yes No
- 2. What is your age? (Please specify?)
- 3. What is your gender? Male Female

The next section includes general multiple-choice questions about American Government and society. If you do not know the answer, please refrain from using the internet and provide your best guess.

4. How many people are currently in the Prison system?

About 100,000 About 500,000 About 2 million About 5 million

- 5. What percentage of the prison population is white?
 - About 10% About 30% About 50% About 70%
- 6. What percentage of the prison population is black?

About 10% About 30% About 50% About 70%

- 7. How many years does a United States Senator serve?
 - 2 years 4 years 6 years 8 years

8. How many amendments does the Constitution have?

- 10
- 27

9. How many justices serve on the United States Supreme Court?

9. The following chart asks about your television and news viewing habits. Please let me know if you never, rarely, sometimes, often, or always watch the listed programs.

How often do you watch the following shows:	Never	Rarely (Once a Year)	Sometimes (Every Six Months)	Often (Monthly)	Always (Weekly /Daily)
Cable News (CNN, MSNBC, FOX)					
Network News (ABC, CBS)					
Sports (NFL, NBA)					
Reality TV (Real Housewives,					
The Bachelorette)					
Comedies (Modern Family,					
New Girl)					
Dramas (Orange is the New					
Black, Grey's Anatomy)					
Crime Procedurals (NCIS,					
CSI)					
Legal Procedurals (How to Get					
Away with Murder, Suits)					
Documentaries (Blackfish, Jiro					
Dreams of Sushi)					

The following question only displays if Documentaries (Blackfish, Jiro Dreams of Sushi) are selected as Rarely, Sometimes, Often, or Always

The following includes a list of documentaries released in the past five years. Please indicate if you have seen them before.	Yes	No
13 th		
Blackfish		
Casting JonBenet		
Food Inc.		
The Act of Killing		
Jiro Dreams of Sushi		
Time: The Kalief Browder Story		
Man on Wire		
Solitary: Inside Red Onion State Prison		
Hamilton's America		

Please read the following news article closely. Afterwards, you will be asked a few questions.

Vignette – Treatment

The Inside Story of Solitary Confinement



Twelve days after his release from prison, Alexander Johnson hadn't let go of the routines that got him through 2¹/₂ years of solitary confinement.

Every day, 1,200 pushups.

Pacing to the point of exhaustion.

"You get used to being by yourself for so long, when you get out, you're not used to people being near you and touching you," the 32-year-old man said. "I don't listen to music when I'm walking down the street. I need to hear if someone's coming up on me," said Johnson, as he stood on his front porch two weeks after his release. "I gotta be on point with my surroundings."

Alexander Johnson spent nearly 1,000 days in solitary confinement, during each of which he spent 23 hours by himself. "I was losing my mind because I was locked up in the hole."

Time in Solitary

Solitary confinement is the practice of isolating someone for 23 hours a day, every day, without human contact. At the end of 2016, the average time an inmate spent in solitary confinement was five months. The lengthiest tenure in segregation, though, was 16 years.

Treatment 1

On June 1st, 2014, police arrested Johnson for buying illegal drugs. A judge later sentenced him to State Prison. In prison, guards caught Johnson in possession of a cell phone, smuggled in from the outside. Prison rules ban inmates from having cell phones. As a result, the warden moved him indefinitely to solitary confinement.

Treatment 2

On June 1st, 2014, police arrested Johnson for armed drug trafficking. A judge later sentenced him to State Prison. In prison, guards caught Johnson in possession of a cell phone, smuggled in from the outside. Prison rules ban inmates from having cell phones. As a result, the warden moved him indefinitely to solitary confinement.

Treatment 3

On June 1st, 2014, police arrested Johnson for tax evasion and filing a fraudulent tax return. A judge later sentenced him to State Prison. In prison, guards caught Johnson in possession of a cell phone, smuggled in from the outside. Prison rules ban inmates from having cell phones. As a result, the warden moved him indefinitely to solitary confinement.

Treatment 4

On June 1st, 2014, police arrested Johnson for the armed robbery of a homeowner. A judge later sentenced him to State Prison. In prison, guards caught Johnson in possession of a cell phone, smuggled in from the outside. Prison rules ban inmates from having cell phones. As a result, the warden moved him indefinitely to solitary confinement.

The Aftermath

Alexander Johnson said that in his experience, solitary confinement is "not a place of rehabilitation. It's a place of hell."

In August 2016, Johnson was released from solitary confinement and soon left prison. He's been trying to scrape together money for rent, food, and counseling. He's working odd jobs hoping to be hired permanently.

"It's a struggle out here" he explained.

"Solitary confinement changed me. It has a lot to do with the struggles that I try to deal with."

Vignette – Control

The Benefits of Gardening



Alexander Johnson started growing vegetables in his backyard three years ago, and he's now working on planting a bed of hydrangeas, butterfly bushes and rose campion.

"When you sit at a desk all day, there's something about literally putting your hands in the dirt, digging and actually creating something that's really beautiful," says Johnson, 42. Johnson isn't the only one who feels this way. Many gardeners view their hobby as the perfect antidote to the modern world.

Physical Exercise and Gardening

Gardening gets you out in the fresh air and sunshine -- and it also gets your blood moving. "There are lots of different movements in gardening, so you get some exercise benefits out of it as well," says William Maynard, the community garden program coordinator for the City of Sacramento's Department of Parks and Recreation.

Digging, planting, weeding, and other repetitive tasks that require strength or stretching are excellent forms of low-impact exercise, especially for people who find more vigorous exercise a challenge, such as those who are older, have disabilities, or suffer from chronic pain.

How to get started?

"People who are growing food tend to eat healthy," says Johnson. "The work that we do here with kids demonstrates it on a daily basis, throughout the seasons."

For some great gardening tips, just start up a conversation with one of the gardeners next time you are passing by a community garden.

Post Vignette

Please answer the following questions and base your answers on your gut reaction.

10 (control). How old was Alexander Johnson?

- a. 30
- b. 34
- c. 42
- d. 50

11. In general, do you support or approve of the use of solitary confinement in the United States prison system?

- a. Strongly Approve
- b. Somewhat Approve
- c. Neither approve nor disapprove
- d. Somewhat disapprove
- e. Strongly disapprove

13.

How strongly do you approve or disapprove of the use of solitary confinement towards the following infractions?	Strongly Approve	Somewhat Approve	Neither Approve nor Disapprove	Somewhat Disapprove	Strongly Disapprove
Fighting a Guard					
Killing another Inmate					
Being affiliated with a Gang					
Having contraband					
Wearing a Hijab/Headscarf					

14. Should the mental health impact of solitary confinement be considered when using the practice on inmates?

Strongly agree Somewhat agree Neither agree nor disagree Somewhat disagree Strongly disagree

The next section includes a number of statements. Please let me know if you strongly agree, somewhat agree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat disagree, or strongly disagree with the following statements:

15. Irish, Italians, Jewish, and many other minorities overcame prejudice and worked their way up. Blacks should do the same without special favors.

16. Generations of slavery and discrimination have created conditions that make it difficult for blacks to work their way out of the lower class.

17. Over the past few years blacks have gotten less than they deserve.

18. It's really a matter of some people not trying hard enough; if blacks would only try harder they could be just as well off as whites.

Strongly agree Somewhat agree Neither agree nor disagree Somewhat disagree Strongly disagree

THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS ARE FOR CLASSIFICATION PURPOSES ONLY

19. With which one of these racial or ethnic backgrounds you identify yourself most (Please select one)?

White or Caucasian Black or African American Latino or Hispanic Asian American Other (Please be specific) Refuse

20. What is your current religion, if any? (Please select one)

Catholic (including Roman Catholic or Orthodox) Protestant (Episcopalian, Presbyterian, and any other Christian Denomination) Jewish Muslim Sikh Hindu Buddhist Mormons Atheist/Agnostic/non-religious Spiritual Other

21. What is your highest level of education achieved?

Eight Grade or less Grades 9-11 High School Graduate/GED Some College or Postsecondary School Bachelor's Degree (BA/BS/BSN) Some Graduate Study Master's Degree (MA/MS/MSW/MSN) Doctoral Degree (PH.D./MD/OD/DVM/JD)

22. What is your party affiliation?

Strong Democrat Not so strong Democrat Independent, leans Democrat Independent Independent, leans Democrat Not so strong Republican Strong Republican

23. Would you consider yourself to be conservative, Liberal or moderate?

Very Conservative Somewhat Conservative Moderate, leans Conservative Moderate Moderate, leans Liberal Somewhat Liberal Very Liberal

24. What is your family's annual income?

Under \$25K \$25,000-\$49,999 \$50,000-\$74,999 \$75,000-\$99,999 \$100,000 or higher Refused/DK

25. Have you or a close family member ever been incarcerated?

Yes No

26. Have you or a family member ever had a mental illness

Yes

No

Vignette: Treatment Example and Control

The Finchworth Gazette

www.daily.chronicle.com

[Copyright Notice]

Finchtown, CO

01-Jan-18

The Inside Story of Solitary Confinement



Twelve days after his release from prison, Alexander Johnson hadn't let go of the routines that got him through 2½ years of solitary confinement. Every day, 1,200 pushups. Pacing to the point of exhaustion. "You get used to being by yourself for so long, when you get out, you're not used to people being near you and touching you," the 32-year-old man said. "I don't listen to music when I'm walking down the street. I need to hear if someone's coming up on me," said Johnson, as he stood on his front porch two weeks after his release. "I gotta be on point with my surroundings."

Alexander Johnson spent nearly 1,000 days in solitary confinement, during each of which he spent 23 hours by himself. "I was losing my mind because I was locked up in the hole."

Time in Solitary

Solitary confinement is the practice of isolating someone for 23 hours a day, everyday, without human contact. At the end of 2016, the average time an inmate spent in solitary confinement was five months. The lengthiest tenure in segregation, though, was 16 years. On June 1st, 2014, police arrested Johnson for armed drug trafficking. A judge later sentenced him to State Prison. In prison, guards caught Johnson in possession of a cell phone, smuggled in from the outside. Prison rules ban inmates from having cell phones. As a result, the warden moved him indefinitely to solitary confinement.

The Aftermath

Alexander Johnson said that in his experience, solitary confinement is "not a place of rehabilitation. It's a place of hell."

In August 2016, Johnson was released from solitary confinement and soon left prison. He's been trying to scrape together money for rent, food, and counseling. He's working odd jobs hoping to be hired permanently. "It's a struggle out here" he explained.

"Solitary confinement changed me. It has a lot to do with the struggles that I try to deal with."

The Finchworth Gazette

www.daily.chronicle.com

[Copyright Notice]

Finchtown, CO

01-Jan-18

The Benefits of Gardening



Alexander Johnson started growing vegetables in his backyard three years ago, and he's now working on planting a bed of hydrangeas, butterfly bushes and rose campion.

"When you sit at a desk all day, there's something about literally putting your hands in the dirt, digging and actually creating something that's really beautiful," says the 32 year-old Johnson.

Johnson isn't the only one who feels this way. Many gardeners view their hobby as the perfect antidote to the modern world.

Physical Exercise and Gardening

Gardening gets you out in the fresh air and sunshine -- and it also gets your blood moving. "There are lots of different movements in gardening, so you get some exercise benefits out of it as well," says William Maynard, the community garden program coordinator for the City's Department of Parks and Recreation. Digging, planting, weeding, and other repetitive tasks that require strength or stretching are excellent forms of low-impact exercise, especially for people who find more vigorous exercise a challenge, such as those who are older, have disabilities, or suffer from chronic pain.

How to get started?

"People who are growing food tend to eat healthy," says Johnson. "The work that we do here with kids demonstrates it on a daily basis, throughout the seasons." For some great gardening tips, just start up a conversation with one of the gardeners next time you are passing by a community garden.

Bibliography

- Alexander, Michelle. 2011. *The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness*. New York, NY: The New Press.
- Allen, Danielle S. 2002. *The World of Prometheus: The Politics of Punishing in Democratic Athens*. N Second printing edition. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Altamura, M., G.M. Lattanzi, T.I. Pomerani, and S. Seno. 2015. "The Impact of Incarceration on Prisoners' Mental Health: Results of a One-Year Research on Italian Penal Institutions." *European Psychiatry* 30 (March): 1371–89.

- Applegate, Brandon K., Francis T. Cullen, and Bonnie S. Fisher. 1997. "Public Support for Correctional Treatment: The Continuing Appeal of the Rehabilitative Ideal." *The Prison Journal* 77 (3): 237–58.
- Arp, William, William Paul Simmons, and Christopher E. Cottrell. 1999. "Black Democratic Partisanship and White Flight in Louisiana, 1975 Through 1996." *Journal of Black Studies* 29 (6): 755–70.
- Aviram, Hadar. 2015. Cheap on Crime: Recession-Era Politics and the Transformation of American Punishment. Berkley, CA: University of California Press.
- Baker, Mary Holland, Barbara C. Nienstedt, Ronald S. Everett, and Richard McCleary. 1983. "The Impact of a Crime Wave: Perceptions, Fear, and Confidence in the Police." *Law & Society Review* 17 (2): 319.
- Baker, Vanessa. 2009. The Politics of Imprisonment: How the Democratic Process Shapes the Way American Punishes Offenders. New York, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Barkan, Stephen E., and Steven F. Cohn. 1994. "Racial Prejudice and Support for the Death Penalty by Whites." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 31 (2): 202–9.

- Barkan, Steven E., and Steven F. Cohn. 2005. "Why Whites Favor Spending More Money to Fight Crime: The Role of Racial Prejudice." *Social Problems* 52 (2): 300–314.
- Berinsky, Adam J., Gregory A. Huber, and Gabriel S. Lenz. 2012. "Evaluating Online Labor Markets for Experimental Research: Amazon.Com's Mechanical Turk." *Political Analysis* 20 (3): 351–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pan/mpr057</u>.
- Blumer, Herbert. 1958. "Race Prejudice as a Sense of Group Position." *The Pacific Sociological Review* 1 (1): 3–7.
- Blumstein, Alfred, and Jacqueline Cohen. 1973. "A Theory of the Stability of Punishment." *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology* 64 (2): 198.
- Bobo, Lawrence D. 1999. "Prejudice as Group Position: Microfoundations of a Sociological Approach to Racism and Race Relations." *Journal of Social Issues* 55 (3): 445–72.

Bobo, Lawrence D. n.d. "Racialized Mass Incarceration," 35.

- Bobo, Lawrence D., and Devon Johnson. 2004. "A Taste for Punishment: Black and White Americans' Views on the Death Penalty and the War on Drugs." *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race* 1 (01).
- Brace, Paul, and Brent D. Boyea. 2008. "State Public Opinion, the Death Penalty, and the Practice of Electing Judges." *American Journal of Political Science* 52 (2): 360–72.
- Bruce, Michael. 2007. "Linking public opinion to state legislative behavior: the partial birth abortion issue." Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana State University.
- Burstein, Paul. 2003. "The Impact of Public Opinion on Public Policy: A Review and an Agenda." *Political Research Quarterly* 56 (1): 29–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/106591290305600103.

- Butler, Ryden, Brendan Nyhan, Jacob M. Montgomery, and Michelle Torres. 2018. "Revisiting White
 Backlash: Does Race Affect Death Penalty Opinion?" *Research & Politics* 5 (1):
 205316801775125.
- Campbell, Andrea Louise, Cara Wong, and Jack Citrin. 2006. "'Racial Threat', Partisan Climate, and Direct Democracy: Contextual Effects in Three California Initiatives." *Political Behavior* 28 (2): 129–50.
- Casella, Jean, James Ridgeway, and Sarah Shourd, eds. 2016. *Hell Is a Very Small Place: Voices from Inside Solitary Confinement*. New York, New York: The New Press.
- Chandler, Jesse, and Danielle Shapiro. 2016. "Conducting Clinical Research Using Crowdsourced Convenience Samples." *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* 12 (April).
- Chiricos, Ted, Kelly Welch, and Marc Gertz. 2004. "Racial Typification of Crime and Support for Punitive Measures." *Criminology* 42 (2): 358–90.
- De Beaumont, Gustave, and Alexis de TocqueviIIe. 1964. *On the Penitentiary System in the United States and Its Application in France*. Edited by Herman R. Lantz. Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Clear, Todd R. 1994. *Harm in American Penology: Offenders, Victims, and Their Communities*. Albany, N.Y: SUNY Press.
- Cook, Fay Lomax, Tom R. Tyler, Edward G. Goetz, Margaret T. Gordon, David Protess, Donna R. Leff, and Harvey L. Molotch. 1983. "Media and Agenda Setting: Effects on the Public, Interest Group Leaders, Policy Makers, and Policy." *The Public Opinion Quarterly* 47 (1): 16–35.
- Cullen, Francis T., Bonnie S. Fisher, and Brandon K. Applegate. 2000. "Public Opinion about Punishment and Corrections." *Crime and Justice* 2: 1–79.

- Davis, Angela. 2000. "Blacks and Criminal Justice: From the Convict Lease System to the Supermax Prison." In *States of Confinement: Policing, Detention, and Prisons*, 60–75. St. Martin's Press.
- Dickens, Charles. 2001. *American Notes for General Circulation*. Edited by Patricia Ingham. Reissue edition. London and New York: Penguin Classics.
- Downs, Anthony. 1957. "An Economic Theory of Political Action in a Democracy." *Journal of Political Economy* 65 (2): 135–50.
- Eitle, D., S. J. D'Alessio, and L. Stolzenberg. 2002. "Racial Threat and Social Control: A Test of The Political, Economic, and Threat of Black Crime Hypotheses." *Social Forces* 81 (2): 557–76.
- Enns, Peter. 2016. Incarceration Nation: How the United States Became the Most Punitive Democracy in the World. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Fellner, Jamie. 2015. "Callous and Cruel: Use of Force Against Inmates with Mental Disabilities in US Jails and Prisons." New York, NY: Human Rights Watch.
- Fenno, Richard. 2002. *Home Style: House Members in Their Districts*. Longman Classics edition. New York: Pearson.
- Flagg, Anna, Alex Tatusian, and Christie Thompson. 2016. "Who's in Solitary Confinement?" The Marshall Project. November 30, 2016. <u>https://www.themarshallproject.org/2016/11/30/a-new-</u> report-gives-the-most-detailed-breakdown-yet-of-how-isolation-is-used-in-u-s-prisons.
- Foucault, Michel. 1995. *Discipline & Punish: The Birth of the Prison*. Translated by Alan Sheridan. New York: Vintage Books.
- Gibbons, John J., and Nicholas de B. Katzenbach. 2011. "Confronting Confinement: A Report of the Commission on Safety and Abuse in America's Prisons." *Federal Sentencing Reporter* 24 (1): 36–41.

- Gilens, Martin. 1999. Why Americans Hate Welfare: Race, Media, and the Politics of Antipoverty Policy. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Giles, Micheal W., and Kaenan Hertz. 1994. "Racial Threat and Partisan Identification." *American Political Science Review* 88 (02): 317–26.
- Gilliam, Franklin D. 1999. "The 'Welfare Queen' Experiment: How Viewers React to Images of African-American Mothers on Welfare," July. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/17m7r1rq.
- Gilliam, Franklin D., and Shanto Iyengar. 2000. "Prime Suspects: The Influence of Local Television News on the Viewing Public." *American Journal of Political Science* 44 (3): 560.
- Gordon, Sanford C., and Gregory Huber. 2009. "The Political Economy of Prosecution." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 1599986. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1599986</u>.
- Gordon, Shira E. n.d. "Solitary Confinement, Public Safety, and Recidivism" 47: 35.
- Gottschalk, Marie. 2006. *The Prison and the Gallows: The Politics of Mass Incarceration in America*. New York: Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Green, Eva G. T., Christian Staerklé, and David O. Sears. 2006. "Symbolic Racism and Whites'
 Attitudes Towards Punitive and Preventive Crime Policies." *Law and Human Behavior* 30 (4): 435–54.
- Grodin, Michael, Daniel Tarantola, George Annas, and Sofia Gruskin. 2013. *Health and Human Rights in a Changing World*. Routledge.
- Guenther, Lisa. 2013. Solitary Confinement: Social Death and Its Afterlives. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Haney, Craig. 2003. "Mental Health Issues in Long-Term Solitary and 'Supermax' Confinement." *Crime & Delinquency* 49 (1): 124–56.

- Haynes, Chris, Jennifer L. Merolla, and S. Karthick Ramakrishnan. 2016. "Media Framing and Effects on Public Opinion." In *Framing Immigrants: News Coverage, Public Opinion, and Policy*. Russell Sage Foundation. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7758/9781610448604.7</u>.
- Heiden, Zachary. 2013. "Change Is Possible: A Case Study of Solitary Confinement Reform in Maine." American Civil Liberties Union. 2013. <u>https://www.aclu.org/report/change-possiblecase-study-solitary-confinement-reform-maine</u>.
- Henry, P.J., and David O. Sears. 2002. "The Symbolic Racism 2000 Scale." *Political Psychology* 23 (2): 253–83.
- Hetey, Rebecca C., and Jennifer L. Eberhardt. 2014. "Racial Disparities in Incarceration Increase Acceptance of Punitive Policies." *Psychological Science* 25 (10): 1949–54.
- Howard, Marc Morjé. 2017. Unusually Cruel: Prisons, Punishment, and the Real American Exceptionalism. 1 edition. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hughes, Rhidian, and Meg Huby. 2004. "The Construction and Interpretation of Vignettes in Social Research." *Social Work and Social Sciences Review - An International Journal of Applied* 11: 36–51.
- Hurwitz, John, and Mark Peffley. 2007. "Persuasion and Resistance: Race and the Death Penalty in America." *American Journal of Political Science* 51 (4): 996–1012.
- Hurwitz, Jon, and Mark Peffley. 1997. "Public Perceptions of Race and Crime: The Role of Racial Stereotypes." *American Journal of Political Science* 41 (2): 375.
- Iyengar, Shanto, Mark D. Peters, and Donald R. Kinder. 1982. "Experimental Demonstrations of the 'Not-So-Minimal' Consequences of Television News Programs." *The American Political Science Review* 76 (4): 848–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1962976</u>.

- Jacobs, David, and Jason T. Carmichael. 2001. "The Politics of Punishment across Time and Space: A Pooled Time-Series Analysis of Imprisonment Rates." *Social Forces* 80 (1): 61–89.
- Jagel, Katie. 2013. "Support for Solitary Confinement." YouGov. 2013. https://today.yougov.com/topics/politics/articles-reports/2013/10/09/us-prisons.
- Keith, Melissa G., Louis Tay, and Peter D. Harms. 2017. "Systems Perspective of Amazon Mechanical Turk for Organizational Research: Review and Recommendations." *Frontiers in Psychology* 8 (August). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01359</u>.
- Kerness, Bonnie, and Jamie Bissonette Lewey. 2014. "Race and the Politics of Isolation in U.S. Prisons." *Atlantic Journal of Communication* 22 (1): 21–41.
- Koczela, Steve, and Rich Parr. 2017. "Public Opinion on Criminal Justice Reform in Massachusetts." Massachusetts Criminal Justice Reform Coalition, 13.
- Kreitzer, Rebecca J., and Candis Watts Smith. 2018. "Reproducible and Replicable: An Empirical Assessment of the Social Construction of Politically Relevant Target Groups." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 51 (4): 768–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096518000987</u>.
- Kupers, Terry Allen. 2017. Solitary: The Inside Story of Supermax Isolation and How We Can Abolish IT. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Langworthy, Robert H, and John T Whitehead. 1986. "Liberalism and Fear as Explanations of Punitiveness." *Criminology* 24 (3): 575–91.
- Lax, Jeffrey R., and Justin H. Phillips. 2009. "Gay Rights in the States: Public Opinion and Policy Responsiveness." *American Political Science Review* 103 (03): 367–86.
- Lorna A. Rhodes. 2004. *Total Confinement: Madness and Reason in the Maximum Security Prison*. Berkley, CA: University of California Press.

- Mears, Daniel P., Christina Mancini, Kevin M. Beaver, and Marc Gertz. 2013. "Housing for the 'Worst of the Worst' Inmates: Public Support for Supermax Prisons." *Crime & Delinquency* 59 (4): 587–615.
- Mears, Daniel P., and Jamie Watson. 2006. "Towards a Fair and Balanced Assessment of Supermax Prisons." *Justice Quarterly* 23 (2): 232–70.
- Miller, Lisa L. 2010. *The Perils of Federalism: Race, Poverty, and the Politics of Crime Control.* Reprint edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Murakawa, Naomi. 2014. The First Civil Right: How Liberals Built Prison America. 1 edition. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nicholson-Crotty, Sean, David A. M. Peterson, and Mark D. Ramirez. 2009. "Dynamic Representation(s): Federal Criminal Justice Policy and an Alternative Dimension of Public Mood." *Political Behavior* 31 (4): 629–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-009-9085-1</u>.
- Page, Benjamin I., Robert Y. Shapiro, and Glenn R. Dempsey. 1987. "What Moves Public Opinion?" *The American Political Science Review* 81 (1): 23.
- Parker, Karen F., Brian J. Stults, and Stephen K. Rice. 2005. "Racial Threat, Concentrated Disadvantage, and Social Control: Considering the Macro-Level Sources of Variation in Arrests." *Criminology* 43 (4): 1111–34.
- Peffley, Mark, and Jon Hurwitz. 2010. *Justice in America: The Separate Realities of Blacks and Whites*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Perkinson, Robert. 2010. Texas Tough: The Rise of America's Prison Empire. New York, NY: Picador.

- Pizarro, Jesenia M., Vanja M. K. Stenius, and Travis C. Pratt. 2006. "Supermax Prisons: Myths, Realities, and the Politics of Punishment in American Society." *Criminal Justice Policy Review* 17 (1): 6–21.
- Powell, Connie. n.d. "The Impact of Public Opinion on Public Policy: A Review and an Agenda." POLITICAL RESEARCH QUARTERLY, 12.
- Prins, Seth J. 2014. "Prevalence of Mental Illnesses in U.S. State Prisons: A Systematic Review." *Psychiatric Services* 65 (7): 862–72.
- Reiter, Keramet. 2016. 23/7: Pelican Bay Prison and the Rise of Long-Term Solitary Confinement. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Remler, Dahlia, and Gregg Van Ryzin. 2015. *Research Methods in Practice: Strategies for Description and Causation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Resnik, Judith, Anna VanCleave, Kristen Bell, Olevia Boykin, Corey Guilmette, Tashiana Hudson, Diana Li, et al. 2016. "Aiming to Reduce Time-in-Cell: Reports from Correctional Systems on the Numbers of Prisoners in Restricted Housing and on the Potential of Policy Changes to Bring About Reforms." SSRN Electronic Journal. <u>https://www.ssrn.com/abstract=2874492</u>.

RichHard. ADX Prison Cell. 18 Jan. 2015,

upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/9/97/ADX_prison_cell.svg.

Rodriguez, Sal. 2011. "The High Cost of Solitary Confinement." Solitary Watch.

- Samuel, Alexandra. 2018. "Amazon's Mechanical Turk Has Reinvented Research." JSTOR Daily. May 15, 2018. <u>https://daily.jstor.org/amazons-mechanical-turk-has-reinvented-research/</u>.
- Shalev, Sharon. 2009. Supermax: Controlling Risk through Solitary Confinement. Portland, Oregon: Wilan Publishing.

- Shames, Alison, Jessa Wilcox, and Ram Subramian. 2015. "Solitary Confinement: Common Misconceptions and Emerging Safe Alternatives." The Robert W. Wilson Charitable Trust Series. Vera Institute of Justice.
- Smith, Kevin B. 2004. "The Politics of Punishment: Evaluating Political Explanations of Incarceration Rates." *The Journal of Politics* 66 (3): 925–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2508.2004.00283.x</u>.
- Smith, Peter Scharff. 2006. "The Effects of Solitary Confinement on Prison Inmates: A Brief History and Review of the Literature." *Crime and Justice* 34 (1): 441–528.
- "U.S. State and Federal Prison Population, 1925-2016." 2018. The Sentencing Project. 2018. https://sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Trends-in-US-Corrections.pdf.
- Wagage, Suraji, Jennica Janssen, and Naomi Goldstein. 2017. "Public Opinion on Juvenile Solitary Confinement."
- Warr, Mark. 2000. "Fear of Crime in the United States: Avenues for Research and Policy." *CRIMINAL JUSTICE* 4: 39.
- Whitman, James Q. 2003. *Harsh Justice: Criminal Punishment and the Widening Divide between America and Europe*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Wilcox, Jessa, Léon Digard, and Elena Vanko. n.d. "The Safe Alternatives to Segregation Initiative: Findings and Recommendations for the North Carolina Department of Public Safety." Vera Institute of Justice, 90.
- Wilson, David C., and Paul R. Brewer. 2013. "The Foundations of Public Opinion on Voter ID Laws." Public Opinion Quarterly 77 (4): 962–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nft026</u>.